
 

Democratic Services democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Title: Children & Young People Cabinet Member 
Meeting 

Date: 20 January 2012 

Time: 2.00pm 

Venue Committee Room 3, Hove Town Hall 

Members: Councillor: 
Shanks (Cabinet Member) 

 Wealls and Marsh 

Contact: Penny Jennings 
Democratic Services Officer 
01273 291065 
penny.jennings@brighton-hove.gov.uk  

 
The Town Hall has facilities for wheelchair users, 
including lifts and toilets 

 

T  

An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for 
anyone wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter 
and infra red hearing aids are available for use 
during the meeting.  If you require any further 
information or assistance, please contact the 
receptionist on arrival. 

  

 FIRE / EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are 
instructed to do so, you must leave the building by 
the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to 
the nearest exit by council staff.  It is vital that you 
follow their instructions: 
 

• You should proceed calmly; do not run and do 
not use the lifts; 

• Do not stop to collect personal belongings; 

• Once you are outside, please do not wait 
immediately next to the building, but move 
some distance away and await further 
instructions; and 

• Do not re-enter the building until told that it is 
safe to do so. 

 



 

 
 

Democratic Services: Meeting Layout 
 

Public 
Speaker 

Lawyer Councillor 
Shanks 

Strategic 
Director- 
People 

 

Democratic 
Services 
Officer 

 

Officer in 
Attendance 

Officer in 
Attendance 
 

Members in Attendance 

Officers in Attendance 

Press 

Public Seating 

Officer in 
Attendance 

Officer in 
Attendance 
 

Member 
Speaker 

Opposition 
Spokesperson 

Labour &  
Co-operative  

Opposition 
Spokesperson 
Conservative 
 

 



CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE CABINET MEMBER MEETING 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

Part One Page 
 

16. PROCEDURAL BUSINESS  

 (a) Declarations of Interest by all Members present of any personal 
interests in matters on the agenda, the nature of any interest and 
whether the Members regard the interest as prejudicial under the 
terms of the Code of Conduct.  

 
(b) Exclusion of Press and Public - To consider whether, in view of the 

nature of the business to be transacted, or the nature of the 
proceedings, the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting when any of the following items are under consideration. 

 
NOTE:  Any item appearing in Part 2 of the Agenda states in its 
heading either that it is confidential or the category under which the 
information disclosed in the report is exempt from disclosure and 
therefore not available to the public. 

 
A list and description of the categories of exempt information is 
available for public inspection at Brighton and Hove Town Halls. 

 

 

17. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 1 - 8 

 Minutes of the Meeting held on 12 September 2011 (copy attached).  
 

18. CABINET MEMBER'S COMMUNICATIONS  

 

19. ITEMS RESERVED FOR DISCUSSION  

 (a) Items reserved by the Cabinet Member 

(b) Items reserved by the Opposition Spokespersons 

(c) Items reserved by Members, with the agreement of the Cabinet 
Member. 

NOTE: Public Questions, Written Questions from Councillors, Petitions, 
Deputations, Letters from Councillors and Notices of Motion will be 
reserved automatically. 

 

 

20. PETITIONS 9 - 10 

 Report of the Strategic Director, Resources (copy attached)  
 

21. PUBLIC QUESTIONS  

 (The closing date for receipt of public questions is 12 noon on 13 January 
2012) 
 

 



CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE CABINET MEMBER MEETING 

 
 

No public questions received by date of publication. 
 

22. DEPUTATIONS  

 (The closing date for receipt of deputations is 12 noon on 13 January 
2012) 
 
No deputations received by date of publication. 

 

 

23. LETTERS FROM COUNCILLORS  

 No letters have been received.  
 

24. WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS  

 No written questions have been received.  
 

25. CHILDREN'S SERVICES FEES AND CHARGES 2012-13 11 - 22 

 Report of the Strategic Director, People (copy attached)   

 Contact Officer: Paul Brinkhurst Tel: 29-3439  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

26. SERVICES TO YOUNG PEOPLE 2012-2015 - JOINT COMMISSIONING 
STRATEGY 

23 - 76 

 Report of the Strategic Director, People (copy attached)  

 Contact Officer: Kerry Clarke Tel: 01273 295491  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

27. BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL RELIGIOUS EDUCATION 
AGREED SYLLABUS 2011 

77 - 132 

 Report of the Strategic Director, People (copy attached)  

 Contact Officer: Michael Nix Tel: 29-0732  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

28. PROCUREMENT OF CHILDREN'S RESIDENTIAL AND  FOSTER 
CARE 

133 - 
190 

 Report of the Strategic Director of People (copy attached)  

 Contact Officer: Sue Boiling Tel: 01273 295138  
 Ward Affected: All Wards   
 

 



CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE CABINET MEMBER MEETING 

 
 

The City Council actively welcomes members of the public and the press to attend its 
meetings and holds as many of its meetings as possible in public.  Provision is also made 
on the agendas for public questions to committees and details of how questions can be 
raised can be found on the website and/or on agendas for the meetings. 
 
The closing date for receipt of public questions and deputations for the next meeting is 12 
noon on the fifth working day before the meeting. 
 
Agendas and minutes are published on the council’s website www.brighton-hove.gov.uk.  
Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the meeting date. 
 
Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large print, in Braille, on audio tape or on 
disc, or translated into any other language as requested. 
 
For further details and general enquiries about this meeting contact Penny Jennings, 
(01273 291065, email penny.jennings@ brighton-hove.gov.uk or email 
democratic.services@brighton-hove.gov.uk  
 

 
Date of Publication - Thursday, 12 January 2012 

 
 





 
 

 
 

CHILDREN & YOUNG 
 PEOPLE’S CABINET 
MEMBER MEETING  

Agenda Item 17 
 
Brighton & Hove City  Council  
 

 
BRIGHTON & HOVE CITY COUNCIL 

 
CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE CABINET MEMBER MEETING 

 
4.00pm 12 SEPTEMBER 2011 

 
COMMITTEE ROOM 3, HOVE TOWN HALL 

 
MINUTES 

 
Present: Councillor Shanks (Cabinet Member) 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Wealls (Opposition Spokesperson) and Marsh (Opposition 
Spokesperson) 
 
Other Members present: Councillors   
 

 
 

PART ONE 
 
 

1. PROCEDURAL BUSINESS 
 
1(a) Declarations of Interests 

1.1      There were none.  

1(b) Exclusion of Press and Public 

           In accordance with section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 (“the Act”), the 
Cabinet Member considered whether the press and public should be excluded from the 
meeting during an item of business on the grounds that it was likely, in view of the 
business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if members of the press 
and public were present during that item, there would be disclosure to them of 
confidential information (as defined in section 100A(3) of the Act) or exempt information 
(as defined in section 100I(I) of the Act).  

1.2  RESOLVED - That the press and public not be excluded from the meeting. 

 

1



 

 
 

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE CABINET MEMBER MEETING 12 SEPTEMBER 
2011 

 
2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 
2.1 RESOLVED – That the minutes of the Children & Young People Cabinet Member 

Meeting held on 28 March 2011 be agreed and signed by the Cabinet Member. 
 
 
3. CABINET MEMBER'S COMMUNICATIONS 
 
3.1 The Cabinet Member passed her thanks and regards to both the Head of School 

Admissions & Transport and the Head of Fostering & Adoption who, after lengthy and 
dedicated service, would sadly be leaving employment at the Council. 

 
 
4. ITEMS RESERVED FOR DISCUSSION 
 
4.1 RESOLVED – That all items be reserved for discussion. 
 
 
5. PETITIONS 
 
5. (i) Petition – Prevent the demolition of Whitehawk Youth and Community Centre 
 
 The Cabinet Member received an e-petition signed by 10 people concerning the future of 

Whitehawk Youth and Community Centre. 
 
 The Cabinet Member noted the response would be sent to the petitioner as he was not 

present at the meeting. 
 
 RESOLVED – That the petition be noted. 
 
6. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 
6.1 The Cabinet Member reported that one public question had been received. 
 
6.2 Laura James and David Higgens asked the following question: 
 

“In 2001, it was estimated that there were around 500 carers aged 8-17 years old in 
Brighton & Hove and 800 young adult carers. This is an old estimate, and it is believed 
numbers have increased significantly over the last decade, particularly in supporting those 
with mental health and substance misuse issues. Currently there are 130 Young Carers 
supported by the Brighton and Hove Young Carers Project which obviously falls short of 
the numbers of potential Young Carers in need of support in our city. 

Research has shown that a significant proportion of young carers suffer significant 
educational disadvantage. They are more likely to be bullied and find it more difficult to 
attend school and complete their homework because of their caring responsibilities. They 
often, therefore, underachieve in exams and struggle in the labour market. Research 
commissioned by Manchester Metropolitan University has highlighted the significant 

2



 

 
 

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE CABINET MEMBER MEETING 12 SEPTEMBER 
2011 

benefits to society, the individual and to the economy, from investment in services for 
young carers. 

Please will you give priority to work to more accurately understand the number of and 
location of young carers in Brighton & Hove, to ensure Council and voluntary sector 
services are able to reach out to all or as many young carers as possible, and that 
appropriate resources are forthcoming to support young carers in their lives in general 
and in the often challenging roles they undertake, which is of enormous benefit to their 
families and to our society” 

6.3   The Cabinet Member gave the following response: 

 
“The needs of young carers are met in a range of ways by a range of services and 
professionals including the support provided by the Young Carers Project.  
The Carers Strategy is about to be refreshed and we will be consulting on this in the 
autumn and reporting to the Joint Commissioning Board in November. The Partnership 
Group undertaking the review is a multi-agency group that includes Community and 
Voluntary Sector organisations and advocacy groups such as Amaze. 
One of the targets in the current strategy is: “Identification and recognition of young carers 
at point of assessment/service provision of cared for person including health services.”  
We expect this target will remain as a priority in the refreshed strategy.  
It is also important that young carers can access the opportunities available to all young 
people in Brighton and Hove and we will give this particular attention when we publish our 
strategy for Youth Services which is currently out for consultation”. 
 

6.4    David Higgens asked the following supplementary question: 
 

“In the likelihood that more Young Carers are identified, how would the additional 
resource demand be addressed?” 

 
6.5   The Cabinet Member gave the following response: 
 

“A review of the Carers Strategy was currently underway and would be presented to the 
Joint Commissioning Board in November. The effective targeting of resources and funding 
would be incorporated into this”. 

 
 
 
7. DEPUTATIONS 
 
7.1 There were none. 
 
 
8. LETTERS FROM COUNCILLORS 
 
8.1 There were none. 
 
 
 

3



 

 
 

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE CABINET MEMBER MEETING 12 SEPTEMBER 
2011 

9. WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS 
 
9.1 There were none. 
 
10. NOTICES OF MOTIONS 
 
10.1 There were none. 
 
 
11. ANNUAL FOSTERING SERVICE REPORT 
 
11.1 The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Strategic Director, Place. The report 

met the regulation that required an annual fostering report to be received by the Council 
Executive. The report focused on fostering activity and a profile of the work of fostering 
teams with the Fostering and Adoption Service. 

 
11.2 Councillor Wealls noted that the report highlighted recruiting additional staff. He asked 

how many positions would be created. 
 
11.3 The Head of Fostering & Adoption replied that an additional part-time Practice Manager 

and an additional three social workers would be appointed. They would form a 
dedicated recruitment team. The Head of Children & Families added that the Cabinet 
Member had requested a structure chart for the Fostering team which would presented 
at the next Child Review Board. 

 
11.4 Councillor Marsh enquired as to the factors involved in choosing between private 

agency and the council operated Fostering Service. 
 
11.5 The Fostering & Adoption Service Manager answered that the Council had a high 

reputation for the levels of service, assurance and support it provided. Whilst she could 
not comment on the service private agencies offered she was aware that they could 
offer high payments in comparison to the Local Authority. The Strategic Director, People 
added one of the first things he discovered upon his appointment in 2010 was that the 
Fostering Service provided support to the highest standard. 

 
11.6 RESOLVED- That the Annual Fostering Service Report and the progress of the 

Fostering & Adoption Service in relation to fostering activity is noted. 
 
12. ANNUAL ADOPTION SERVICE REPORT 
 
12.1 The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Strategic Director, People. The report 

met Standard 25.6 of the National Minimum Standards for Adoption Services that 
requires the Adoption Agency to produce a 6 monthly report to the Council Executive. 
The report gave full information about adoption activity and compliance with the national 
adoption standards and a profile of the work of the Adoption and Permanence teams. 

 
12.2 Councillor Marsh enquired about the composition of the Adoption and Permanence 

Panel. 
 

4



 

 
 

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE CABINET MEMBER MEETING 12 SEPTEMBER 
2011 

12.3 The Head of Fostering & Adoption replied that Adoption regulations specified the 
composition of the Panel that included, amongst others, an independent foster carer, 
adoptive parent and an adopted person.  

 
12.4 Councillor Wealls asked if adopters were surveyed about the service provided. 
 
12.5 The Head of Fostering & Adoption answered that surveys were carried out throughout 

the various stages of the adoption process as well as for specific services. In addition, 
questionnaires were regularly sent out with responses sent to the Chair of the Adoption 
& Permanence Panel with the results discussed with the Lead Commissioner- Children, 
Youth & Families in their quarterly meeting. 

 
12.6 Councillor Wealls requested further information on the approach taken by Adoption 

Services in black, minority and ethnic (BME) adoption cases. 
 
12.7 The Head of Fostering & Adoption clarified that the adoption agency had an explicit 

inclusive recruitment strategy and employed a recruitment officer for BME carers and 
adopters. Careful assessment was undertaken to ascertain the needs of adoptive 
children in relation to identity and this determined the type of placement. The Head of 
Children and Families added that every case of adoption was reviewed annually by the 
Child Review Board. A part of this review was to confirm that timescales were 
implemented properly. 

 
12.8 RESOLVED- That the Annual Adoption Agency Report and the progress of the Agency 

in relation to adoption and permanence activity is noted. 
 
13. COMMISSIONING STRATEGY FOR SERVICES, ASSESSMENTS AND 

PLACEMENTS FOR LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN AND CHILDREN IN NEED WHO 
ARE AT RISK OF CARE OR CUSTODY 

 
13.1 The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Strategic Director, People that provided 

information on the Local Authority’s Commissioning Strategy for services, assessment 
and placements for looked after children and children in need. 

 
13.2 Councillor Wealls enquired about the implications of the G v London Borough of 

Southwark judgement on the Commissioning Strategy. 
 
13.3    The Managing Principal Lawyer clarified that where the Authority provided interim 

accommodation to under 18’s, it was likely that they were a looked after child. Children’s 
Services will in most cases be obliged to provide section 20 duties. 

 
13.4   RESOLVED-  

 
1) That the Commissioning Strategy for services, assessments and placements for looked 

after children and children in need is agreed. 
 
2) That the arrangements for monitoring the development plan through the Children’s 

Services Value for Money Project are noted. 
 
 

5



 

 
 

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE CABINET MEMBER MEETING 12 SEPTEMBER 
2011 

 
14. YOUTH OFFENDING SERVICE IMPROVEMENT ACTION PLAN 
 
14.1 The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Strategic Director, People that provided 

a Youth Offending Service (YOP) Improvement Action Plan as a result of the Her 
Majesty’s Inspectorate of Probation (HMIP) inspection. 

 
14.2 Councillor Marsh conveyed her disappointment at the inspection results noting that 

many areas of the service performed below the national average.  
 
14.3 The Strategic Director, People identified that whilst there was room for improvement, 

there were contributory factors to the result. In particular, he felt the inspectorate’s 
criteria could not be adequately applied to young offenders in the context of Brighton & 
Hove.  

 
14.4 The Head of Children & Families added that the Child Review Board would be 

discussing the matter further. 
 
14.5 RESOLVED- That the Cabinet Member approve the YOS Improvement Action Plan 
 
15. TRANSPORT ARRANGEMENTS TO VOLUNTARY AIDED CHURCH SCHOOLS IN 

BRIGHTON AND HOVE 
 
15.1 The Cabinet Member considered a report of the Strategic Director, People requesting 

permission to consult with schools, parents, carers and Diocesan authorities on the 
possible withdrawal of denominational transport. 

 
15.2 Councillor Wealls noted his concern that the proposals would mean low-income families, 

who did not qualify for transport support, would now have to buy a yearly bus ticket at a 
cost of £250 each. He asked if the proposals would also apply to academy and/or free 
schools. 

 
15.3 The Head of Admissions & Transport answered that the proposals only applied to those 

schools of religious character. There were currently no academies or free schools of this 
type in Brighton and Hove. 

 
15.4 Councillor Marsh felt the proposals could be interpreted as discriminatory.  
 
15.5 The Managing Principal Lawyer emphasised that consulting on an issue was not 

discriminatory. She added that there would be a need for an Equalities Impact 
Assessment would be required as part of the consultation process. 

 
15.6  The Cabinet Member enquired as to the timescales of consultation and, if agreed, 

implementation as parents would begin applying for school places toward the end of the 
year. 

 
15.7 The Head of Admissions & Transport replied that the consultation process would be 

approximately three months and, if agreed, implementation would begin from the 
2013/14 academic year. 

 

6



 

 
 

CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE CABINET MEMBER MEETING 12 SEPTEMBER 
2011 

15.8 RESOLVED- That the Cabinet Member agrees: 
 

1) That the Council should take forward a consultation with schools, parents and carers 
and the Diocesan authorities on the possible withdrawal of denominational transport. 

 
2) That following that consultation a further report should be made to the Cabinet Member 

for Children and Young people setting out the results and recommendations arising from 
the consultation. 

 
 

 
 

 
The meeting concluded at 5.22pm 

 
Signed 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair 

Dated this day of  
 

7



8



CHILDREN & YOUNG 
PEOPLE’S CABINET 
MEMBER MEETING 

Agenda Item 20 
 

Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

 

Subject: Petitions 

Date of Meeting: 20 January 2012 

Report of: Strategic Director, Resources 

Contact Officer: Name:  Penny Jennings Tel: 29-1065 

 E-mail: penny.jennings@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Key Decision: No  

Wards Affected: Various  

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 

 

1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 

1.1 To receive any petitions presented at Council, any petitions submitted directly 
to Democratic Services or any e-Petition submitted via the council’s website. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 
 

2.2 That the Cabinet Member/Committee responds to the  petition either by 
noting it or writing to the petition organiser setting out the Council’s views, or 
where it is considered more appropriate, calls for an officer report on the 
matter which may give consideration to a range of options, including the 
following: 

 

§ taking the action requested in the petition 
§ considering the petition at a council meeting 
§ holding an inquiry into the matter 
§ undertaking research into the matter 
§ holding a public meeting 
§ holding a consultation 
§ holding a meeting with petitioners 
§ referring the petition for consideration by the council’s Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee 
§ calling a referendum 

 

3. PETITIONS 
 

  Petition title 
 

3. (i) To receive the following e-Petition submitted via the council’s website by 
Brighton Cloth Bots and signed by 19 people: 

 
Bring back a Cloth Nappy Incentive Scheme. We wish the council to provide 
money back vouchers as an incentive to parents to use reusable nappies. 

 

 
  

9



10



CHILDREN AND YOUNG 
PEOPLE’S CABINET 
MEMBER MEETING  

Agenda Item 25 
 

Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

Subject: Children’s Services Fees and Charges 2012/13 

Date of Meeting: 20th January 2012 

Report of: Strategic Director of People 

Contact Officer: Name:  Paul Brinkhurst Tel: Ext 3439 

 E-mail: paul.brinkhurst@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Key Decision: No Forward Plan No: N/A 

Wards Affected: All  

 

FOR GENERAL RELEASE   
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 

 

The purpose of the report is to review the Children’s Services fees and charges in 
accordance with the corporate policy.   

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:   

 
2.1 That the position on fees charged for nurseries as detailed in section 3.3 be 

agreed. 
 
2.2 That the position on fees and charges for the Learning Development Centre  

detailed in section 3.4.3 be noted. 
 
2.3 That the fees and charges for 2012/13 in respect of Surrenden Pool as detailed in 

section 3.5 and Appendix 2 be agreed. 
 
2.4   That the position on fees and charges for the Music and Performing Arts Service as 

detailed in section 3.6 and Appendix 3 be noted. 
 
2.5 That the position on the charges for school meals as detailed in section 3.8 be 

noted. 
 
3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY EVENTS: 
 
3.1 As part of the budget setting process Heads of Service are required to agree any 

changes to fees and charges through Cabinet Member Meetings.  The 
management of fees and charges is fundamental both to the financial performance 
of the City Council and also the achievement of the Council’s corporate priorities, in 
particular making better use of public money.  

 
3.2 There are several distinct areas of fees and charges income for Children’s 

Services, some of which are approved by other bodies such as the Music Trust and 
Portslade Aldridge Community Academy Governors. The recommendations above 
reflect the areas that need approval and those that are for noting.   
 
 
 

11



 2

 
 
 

 
3.3 Nurseries 
 
3.3.1 There are five Council run nurseries in the City: Cherry Tree, Acorn, Roundabout, 

Jumpstart and Bright Start. All the nurseries are subsidised by the Council. The 
subsidy for Bright Start comes from the Council’s core funding and funding for the 
remaining nurseries from the Early Intervention Grant. The EIG is now a non ring-
fenced grant. During the last year the admissions criteria for Bright Start has been 
changed to give first priority to children in need, children with council parents 
second and community third.  The fee structure was also changed so that all 
parents pay the same rate removing the reduced rate for Council parents.  Less 
than 50% of children attending Bright Start have parents employed by the Council. 

 
3.3.2 Fees for all the nurseries were increased significantly last year to bring them in line 

with the fees charged by private and voluntary nurseries across the city. There are 
two rates across the city:  £4.50 an hour for nurseries providing food and £4.20 an 
hour for those that do not.  As the fee increases for Jumpstart and Roundabout 
were significant they were staged over the year to minimise the impact on 
parents. They increased to £4.30 an hour in September 2011 and the final increase 
to £4.50 will take place in April 2012. 

 
3.3.3 The proposal for 2012/13 is for a cost of living increase of 3%.  This equates to 13p 

an hour or £1.30 a day.  It is proposed to delay this increase for Jump Start and 
Roundabout until September 2012.   
 

3.3.4 Most children attend part-time so parents’ weekly expenditure on childcare will still 
be within the £175 a week limit for the childcare elements of the Working Tax 
Credit.  Parents of 3 and 4 year olds are entitled to 15 hours free early learning for 
38 weeks.  In addition there are a small number of funded places for disadvantaged 
two year olds and children with child protection plans for 10 hours a week. 

 

3.4 Learning Development Centre 
 

3.4.1 The Learning Development Centre has historically been an in-house training venue 
and staff offices based in Moulsecoomb which has been funded over many years 
through hiring out training facilities and receiving rent for education staff based in 
the building. However the relationship and responsibilities of local authorities with 
schools has changed in response to government priorities and all the LDC based 
education staff have now left the employ of the council or have moved to other 
council accommodation. Additionally, reduced council central funding is requiring 
the wider council to undertake a series of value for money reviews to make most 
efficient use of building resources. These two developments have resulted in major 
changes being planned for the use and operation of the LDC in the future. 

 

3.4.2 As a result of the recent re-structure the ‘Learning, Schools and Skills’ branch to 
become a  Learning & Partnership Unit and the council’s VfM and Smarter Working 
projects, plans are now progressing to develop the LDC building into one of the 
council’s ‘Hub’ sites, with the management of the building planned to move to 
Property and Design.  

 

12



 3

 

3.4.3 The budget strategy for 2012/13 proposes that the LDC will no longer provide 
training facilities, hence income from this source will cease. 

 

3.4.4 A schedule of the current fees and charges for 2011/12 is attached at Appendix 1.   

 
3.5  Surrenden Pool 
 

3.5.1 Surrenden Pool is a detached timber framed swimming pool building located on the 
boundary of Dorothy Stringer High School on the Surrenden campus.  The pool is 
run by a Children’s Services employee, assisted by sessional members of staff.     

 
3.5.2 The pool is used during the school day by schools which do not have their own 

swimming facilities. These schools include Varndean, Dorothy Stringer, Downs 
View Link College, Queens Park Primary, Hertford Juniors, Balfour Infants, Balfour 
Juniors, St Bernadette’s Primary, Westdene Primary, Whitehawk Primary, ACE, 
Moulescoomb Primary and St Mark’s Primary.  In the evenings and at weekends, 
there is a mixture of swimming lessons and third party lets to local swimming and 
scuba clubs to maximise income and to ensure that costs are kept as low as 
possible for schools. 

  

3.5.3 For 2012/2013, it is proposed to increase charges to schools by approximately 
3.85% and to increase third party let charges by 3.5%.  Appendix 2 shows a further 
breakdown of current and proposed fees and charges for the pool. 

 
3.5.4 It is not believed that the increase in charges to schools in 2012/13 should affect 

school bookings as schools receive funding for this sort of activity as part of their 
annual budget share.  However, there is a slight risk that the increase in third party 
letting charges may prove unaffordable for some local clubs, especially in the 
current financial climate.   The situation will be monitored and the increase will be 
waived should this turn out to be the case.   

 

3.5.5 It should be noted that even with the proposed increase; Surrenden Pool’s charges 
remain considerably less than at other pools in the City.   

 
3.6 Music Arts and Study Support 

 
3.6.1 The Music Service charges a range of fees and charges depending on the service 

provided.  These fees are set in order to balance the budget, taking into account 
inflation, savings targets and market conditions. The Music Trust is consulted on 
suggested levels of fees, prior to final decisions by Directors.  The increase in fees 
may have an impact on numbers learning. 

 
3.6.2 The budget strategy for 2012/13 proposes that the music service loses £107k of its 

Council funding. As a result it is anticipated that fees would increase by 7.5%  
alongside amending the present offer and developing further charging to schools. 

 Instrumental tuition fees will rise but will need to be submitted to the Music Trust 
and to Directors for approval in March 2012. There is a risk that government grant 
to Local Authority music services could reduce, the arrangements for the 2013/14 
music grant have yet to be announced. Any changes to this may affect budget 
plans.  

 

13



 4

3.6.3 A schedule of the current fees and charges are attached for information at 
Appendix 3. 
 
 

3.7 School Meals 
 

3.7.1 The charge for school meals is inflated annually in accordance with the inflation 
factor in the school meals contract as detailed below.  The current contract is 
started on 1st August 2011 for a period of 4 years with an opportunity to extend up 
to 24 months. Schools may choose to buy into the contract or make their own 
school meals arrangements.  All secondary schools and academies within the city 
provide meals, including free meals to entitled pupils, through their own individually 
negotiated contracts.  

 
3.7.2 The current charge for school meals in primary schools has remained at the 2010 

price of £2.10 for children and £2.50 or £2.08 excluding VAT for adults.  In line with 
the contractual arrangements this price will be reviewed on 1st August 2012. Any 
change to price will be based on the April 2012 indices and agreed prior to the end 
of the academic year for communication to schools and parents. Selling prices 
would increase at the start of a new academic year.  

 

The Meal prices will vary in line with the following two indices: 

(a)  Food element              

Annual movement in the Retail Price Index (all items) as set out in the Monthly 
Digest of Statistics published by the Central Statistical Office. (Ref 18.2 Food 
CHBA) 

(b)  Labour element           

The Management fee price will vary in line with the annual Movement in the Retail 
Price Index (all items) as set in the Monthly Digest of Statistics published by the 
Central Statistical Office (Ref 18.2 All Items RPI CHAW). 

 

As this is built into the contract terms and conditions, approval by the Children’s 
Services Board would only be sought if an increase exceeding inflation was being 
proposed.   

 
3.8 HEALTH IMPLICATIONS 
 
3.8.1 From a public health perspective, if proposed increases were above inflation level 

for some sports and leisure facilities in the city, particularly in areas of health 
inequalities, disadvantaged groups may be less likely to be able to access 
affordable physical activity, sport and leisure.  Any likely adverse impact on the 
health and well-being of these groups should be considered. 
 

3.8.2 The opportunity to receive a free school meal is extremely important to a 
substantial number of children from low income families, for whom a school lunch 
may be the only balanced meal they will eat in a day. Research shows that when 
children eat better, they do better. Whether families are paying for school meals or 
are entitled to them for free, children are more likely to concentrate in the 
classroom in the afternoon after eating healthy school lunches in a pleasant 
environment. This also improves their health and their learning about making better 
food choices. Research also shows that children eligible for free school meals are 
less likely to: do well at school, continue into further education, or secure higher 
paid jobs. Therefore, ensuring that these children eat and gain the benefits of the 

14



 5

free school meals they’re entitled to, really will make a difference to their ability to 
learn and succeed. 
 

 
4. CONSULTATION 

                   
4.1 Budget holders with responsibility for specific fees and charges were consulted in 

the preparation of this report. 
 

5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 
 
 Financial Implications: 
 
5.1    The total Children’s Services fees and charges budget for 2011/12 is approximately 

£4.6m.  
 
5.1.1 As a start point for the budget process, income budgets are increased by         

inflation, currently 2%, to produce a target income budget.  Budget Holders then 
review their fees and charges with a view to ensuring that the target budget is 
achieved and where possible exceeded. 
 

5.1.2 Children’s Centre nurseries are subsidised by the Early Intervention Grant.  
 
5.1.3 The Learning Development Centre has a target income budget of £410,000 which 

will need to be achieved to remain within the overall net budget. 
 

5.1.4 Surrenden Pool has a target income budget of £60,000. It is anticipated that this 
should be achieved with a combination of fee increases and an increase in use by 
scuba and diving clubs and school holiday opening. 
 

5.1.5 The Music Service has a target income budget of £737,000 which it will aim to 
achieve when reviewing the fees and charges for approval by the Music Trust in 
due course. If savings of £107,000 are made the revised income target will be 
£844,000. 
 

5.1.6 School Meals fees and charges are increased by the same inflation factor as 
contained in the school meals contract. Income levels fluctuate according to 
demand but are constantly monitored. Any shortfall in income and or net 
overspends are chargeable to the Dedicated Schools Grant. 
 

 Finance Officer Consulted: Louise Hoten Date: 11/11/2011 
 
 Legal Implications: 
5.2 Children’s Services are entitled to review fees and charges as set out in the report, 

At the time fees and charges are set they must be demonstrably fair and 
reasonable in all the circumstances.  

 
 Lawyer Consulted: Natasha Watson                                        Date: November 2011 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
5.3 Equal access to nursery care is encouraged by ensuring that the nurseries all offer 

the universal free early years entitlement of 15 hours a week for all 3 and 4 year 
olds. The nurseries also offer free part time places for disadvantaged two year olds 
and free places for children under two with child protection plans. Parents with low 
incomes can claim the childcare element of the Working Tax Credit. This pays for 

15



 6

childcare costs of up to a maximum of 70% of £175 a week for one child or £300 for 
two or more. 

 
5.3.1 Equal access to music services is encouraged by offering subsidies of 50% to 

families receiving Child Tax Credit and 80% to families on Income Support. 
 

Sustainability Implications: 

5.4 There are no direct sustainability issues arising from this report. 

 

Crime & Disorder Implications:  

5.5 There are no direct crime and disorder issues arising from this report. 

  

Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  

5.6 The services included in this report rely on being able to achieve their income 
targets in order to maintain the level of service provided.  

 

Corporate / Citywide Implications: 

5.7 The services included in this report are available across the city and concessionary 
prices are offered where possible to encourage those most disadvantaged to make 
use of these services. 

 

6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 

  

6.1 Not applicable. 

 

7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

  

7.1 To agree and/or note the Children’s Services Fees and Charges for 2012/13.  

 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
      
1 Learning Development Centre Fees and Charges 
2     Surrenden Pool 
3 Music and Performing Arts Fees and Charges  
 
Documents In Members’ Rooms 
 
None 
  
Background Documents 
 
1. Fees and Charges Analysis – 2011/12 
 
 

16



          
 Appendix 1 

 

 LEARNING DEVELOPMENT CENTRE (GROSS) FEES 2011/12  

 

     Community Users                     Other Users 

ROOM ROOM 

 SIZE 

PRICE 
BAND 
1 

PRICE 
BAND 
2 

PRICE 
BAND 
3 

PRICE 
BAND 
1 

PRICE 
BAND 
2 

PRICE 
BAND 
3 

TR1 8.5 x 6m 

 

a) £70 

b) £45 

a) £130 

b) £80 

a) £160 

b) £110 

a) £115 

b) £75 

a) £220 

b) £140 

a) £220 

b) £140 

TR2, 5, 6A 
& 7 

7 x 6m £40 £70 £100 £65 £120 £120 

TR3, 4, 6 & 
7A 

8.5 x 6m £45 £80 £110 £75 £140 £140 

Hall 18 x 9m £65 £120 £150 £100 £190 £190 

Equipment       

Projector or 

Laptop (inc VAT) 

 £18 £30 £18 £30 £42 £30 

Projector and  

Laptop (inc VAT) 

 £30 £48 £30 £54 £72 £54 

        

WEEKEND 
RATES 

ROOM  

SIZE 

SATURDAY 

4HRS/MIN 

SATURDAY 
PER HOUR 

SUNDAY 
4HRS/MIN 

SUNDAY  

PER 
HOUR 

TR1 8.5X6m a) £180 

b )£150 

a) £35 

b) £30 

a) £230 

b) £200 

a) £45 

b) £40 

TR2&5 7x6m £140 £25 £190 £35 

TR3&4 8.5x6m £150 £30 £200 £40 

Hall 18mx9m £180 £35 £230 £45 

  
    Community Users   Other Users 

EQUIPMENT 
WEEKEND 
RATES 

UP TO 4 

HOURS 

OVER 4 

HOURS 

UP TO 4 

HOURS 

OVER 4 

HOURS 

Projector or  

Laptop (inc VAT) 

£30 £42 £30 £42 

Projector and 

Laptop (inc VAT) 

£54 £72 £54 £72 

 
 
Price bands; 
1 Room access between 08.00 and 13.00 or 13.00 and 18.00. 
2 Room access outside of band 1 times (e.g. 09.00 to 17.00). 
3 Room access after 16.00 and finishing after 18.00. 
a Room set up for the use of up to 13 PCs. 
b Room set up as a boardroom for up to 18. 
 
          

17



LEARNING DEVELOPMENT CENTRE (NET) FEES 2011/12  

 

     Community Users                     Other Users 

ROOM ROOM 

 SIZE 

PRICE 
BAND 
1 

PRICE 
BAND 
2 

PRICE 
BAND 
3 

PRICE 
BAND 
1 

PRICE 
BAND 
2 

PRICE 
BAND 
3 

TR 1 8.5 x 6m 

 

a) £70 

b) £45 

a) £130 

b) £80 

a) £160 

b) £110 

a) £115 

b) £75 

a) £220 

b) £140 

a) £220 

b) £140 

TR2, 5, 6A 
& 7 

7 x 6m £40 £70 £100 £65 £120 £120 

TR3, 4, 6 & 
7A 

8.5 x 6m £45 £80 £110 £75 £140 £140 

Hall 18 x 9m £65 £120 £150 £100 £190 £190 

Equipment       

Projector or 

laptop 

 £15 £25 £15 £25 £35 £25 

Projector and  

laptop 

 £25 £40 £25 £45 £60 £45 

        

WEEKEND 
RATES 

ROOM  

SIZE 

SATURDAY 

4HRS/MIN 

SATURDAY 
PER HOUR 

SUNDAY 
4HRS/MIN 

SUNDAY  

PER 
HOUR 

TR1 8.5 x 6m a) £180 

b) £150 

a) £35 

b) £30 

a) £230 

b) £200 

a) £45 

b) £40 

TR2&5 7 x 6m £140 £25 £190 £35 

TR3&4 8.5 x 6m £150 £30 £200 £40 

Hall 18m x 9m £180 £35 £230 £45 

  
    Community Users   Other Users 

EQUIPMENT 
WEEKEND 
RATES 

UP TO 4 

HOURS 

OVER 4 

HOURS 

UP TO 4 

HOURS 

OVER 4 

HOURS 

Projector or  

laptop 

£25 £35 £25 £35 

Projector and 

 laptop 

£45 £60 £45 £60 

 
 
Price bands; 
1 Room access between 08.00 and 13.00 or 13.00 and 18.00. 
2 Room access outside of band 1 times (e.g. 09.00 to 17.00). 
3 Room access after 16.00 and finishing after 18.00. 
a Room set up for the use of up to 13 PCs. 
b Room set up as a boardroom for up to 18. 
 
          

 

18



Appendix 2 

 

Surrenden Pool Current and Proposed Fees & Charges for 2012/13 

 

 

SESSION 2011/12 2012/13 INCREASE 

 £/Hour £/Hour % 

School Swimming 26.00 27.00 3.85 

Swimming Lessons 7.25 7.50 3.5 

Swimming/Diving Club Hire 60.00 62.30 3.85 

Casual Pool Hire 85.00 88.00 3.5 

 

19



20



          Appendix 3 
MUSIC ARTS AND STUDY SUPPORT 
 

INSTRUMENTAL 
LESSONS 

FULL FEE 50% 

SUBSIDY 

80% 

SUBSIDY 

Group Lesson £76.10 £38.05 £15.22 

Advanced Scheme £147.50 £73.75 £29.50 

School ensemble £48.00 N/A N/A 

Instrumental Hire £31.45 £15.73 £6.29 

MUSIC CENTRES    

Membership Fee £56.40 £28.20 £11.28 

Children’s’ Music 
Workshop Years 1 
and 2 

£36.00 £18.00 £7.20 

Children’s’ Music 
Workshop  Year 3 
only 

£45.65 £22.83 £9.13 

Junior/Youth Choir 
Membership 

£28.30 £14.15 £5.66 

Dance £56.40 £28.20 £11.28 

Community  

Ensembles 

 

£58.30 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

 
 
 
 Subsidies: 

The annually reviewed Subsidised Tuition Scheme is available for students up 
to the age of 18 who are Brighton & Hove residents or who attend Brighton & 
Hove Local Education Authority Schools. The scheme provides either 80% or 
50% subsidy on tuition fees and instrument hire as follows:  

80% subsidy is available if families are receiving:  

• Income Support  
• Income Based Job Seekers Allowance  

50% subsidy if families are receiving:  

• Child Tax Credit with eligibility for free school lunches    
     

21



22



CHILDREN & YOUNG 
PEOPLE’S CABINET 
MEMBER MEETING 

Agenda Item 26 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

 

Subject: Services for Young People: Joint Commissioning 

Strategy 2012-15 
 

Date of Meeting: January 20th 2012 

Report of: Strategic Director People 

Contact Officer: 
Name: 

Steve Barton Lead 
Commissioner Children, 
Families and Youth 

Tel: 29-6145 

 Email: Steve.Barton@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Key Decision: Yes/No Forward Plan No: 25401 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
 

FOR GENERAL RELEASE  

 

1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 

 

1.1 Statutory Guidance on Section 507B Education Act 1996 sets a 

requirement for all local authorities to provide sufficient positive leisure 

time activities for its young people which promote their wellbeing and are 

delivered using youth work methods and approaches.  

1.2 The Government statement Positive for Youth: A new approach to cross-

government policy for young people aged 13 to 19, issued in December 

2011 includes a commitment in 2012 to publish and consult on revised 

statutory guidance on the duty of Local Authorities to secure activities 

and services for young people 

1.3 This strategy fulfils the commitment in the council’s Corporate Plan to 

redesign the way in which youth services are delivered to ensure young 

people have the opportunity to be active citizens through participating in 

community activities. The draft Services for Young People: Joint 

Commissioning Strategy 2012-15 is attached as Appendix 1. 
 

1.4 This Strategy is one of the first outcomes of the new approach to intelligent 

commissioning across the city. Produced with young people, partners and 

staff it is based on an assessment of need and analysis of current 

provision.  By bringing together the council and its partners we have been 

able to identify more than £6,450,000 that is spent on commissioning 

services for young people and to set out a strategy for improving the 

coordination, impact and value for money of those services. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  

23



 

 

 

2.1 That the Services for Young People, Joint Commissioning Strategy is 

agreed. 

 

2.2 That the Cabinet Member authorises the Strategic Director People to 

proceed with the transitional arrangements necessary to implement the 

proposed strategy.  

 

 

3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION/CHRONOLOGY OF KEY EVENTS: 

 

3.1. Section 1 of the proposed Services for Young People: Joint Commissioning 

Strategy summarises the Youth Review process and Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment. The assessment found very positive youth services that are 

valued by young people, their families and communities and are 

delivered by a skilled and committed workforce. The assessment also 

found: 

• Young people are unclear about what is on offer and services vary 

between different parts of the city. 

• Good research evidence validates open access and targeted youth 

work and youth provision but it is difficult to assess the impact and 

comparative value for money of local services commissioned from the 

council’s delivery unit and external providers. 

• Too many young people need specialist services without having received 

support from youth work or youth provision. 

 

3.2. Section 2 of the report describes the outcomes for young people 

identified during the review and assessment process.  They are: 

• to create ‘a city where teenage years are safe and rewarding, and 

where young people are supported to achieve their full potential; where 

• Family and community stability is improved through early intervention 

services that enable parents, carers and young people to develop their 

relationships and behave in a responsible way. 

• The resilience of young people, especially those who are vulnerable or at 

risk, is improved through advice and targeted early intervention services 

that increase their confidence, self-esteem, motivation and also their 

ability to communicate and deal with conflict, adversity and the 

challenges of adult life. 

• Young people have the opportunity to be active citizens, participate in 

community activities and shape the services that affect their lives so that 

values, expectations and responsibilities are shared and understood. 

• Young people are able to enjoy their leisure time, using the opportunities 

on offer through open access youth provision and cultural, sports and 

other positive activities across the city, so that they are inspired and 

challenged 

 

3.3. Section 3 of the report sets out an innovative strategy to achieve those 

outcomes by: 

24



 

 

• Jointly commissioning services, taking full advantage of the council’s 

transformation programme, intelligent commissioning and partnerships. 

• Commissioning integrated youth work and youth provision, enabling 

providers to collaborate even more closely to deliver services that are 

accessible to all young people and also address the needs of those who 

are vulnerable or at risk. 

• Empowering young people to engage with their communities and to 

shape the services that affect their lives. 

• Procuring services in a fair and consistent way, monitoring all providers to 

ensure services are effective, evidence based and value for money. 

 

3.4. The proposed commissioning strategy is designed to transform youth work 

and youth provision, and will significantly change universal services for 

young people.  To achieve this safely there will need to be a managed 

transitional period to ensure services are not disrupted i.e.    

• A new Joint Commissioning Board of officers from the council and our 

partners has been established to coordinate the commissioning of 

services for young people (see Appendix 1 p. 13) 

• The council has been awarded Breakthrough Project status by the Local 

Government Association’s ‘Local Government Leadership Centre’. This will 

fund an independent broker to work with community and voluntary sector 

providers and the council’s youth service to ‘co-produce’ proposals for 

the delivery of neighbourhood services as described in the strategy. A 

parallel process with city wide providers of specialist equalities services will 

be facilitated by council officers. Both processes will comply with and 

develop the tools and frameworks set out in the appendices to the 

strategy i.e. 

§ Appendix 2: Joint commissioning framework; Integrated care pathway; 

Baseline summary of commissioning activity and investment; 

§ Appendix 3: Neighbourhood and city profiles and performance 

frameworks 

§ Appendix 4: Preliminary  governance framework 

§ Appendix 5: Preliminary funding agreement timeline 

• A short life project group is responsible for the design and implementation 

of procurement and performance management arrangements. This 

includes exploration of flexible arrangements for funding agreements 

which will be compliant with procurement regulations and consistent with 

the principles of intelligent commissioning. The proposed timescale shown 

in appendix 5 of the strategy could be amended if an earlier agreement 

can be made within an acceptable timeframe. 

 

3.5. Details of baseline funding have been amended since the consultation 

draft of the strategy was published in August 2011: 

• Two tables have been added (Appendix 1 pp 4-6) summarising estimated 

resources available to joint commissioners and to existing community and 

voluntary sector providers 

• The summary of resources available to the council for youth work and 

youth provision have been amended to reflect an operational decision to 

re-locate Youth Crime Prevention staff and resources to the Youth 

25



 

 

Offending Service (YOS).  The decision to move resources from targeted 

to specialist provision (see integrated care pathway p. 25 Appendix 1) is 

part of the Delivery Unit’s response to a challenging external inspection of 

the YOS. 

• Funding for 2012-14 is subject to the council’s budget setting process. 

 

 

4. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 

 

4.1 The Services for Young People: Joint Commissioning Strategy 2012-15   

went to public consultation during the summer and resulted in 348 

responses, of which 20% were from young people.  During the open 

consultation the Commissioner for Youth Services held four workshops with 

46 staff and partners to ensure they were clear about the process. 

Brighton University completed a report summarising the issues and themes 

emerging from the consultation. The council’s Children and Young 

People’s Participation Team led various consultation exercises with young 

people and the Commissioner for Youth Services involved groups of 

young people in the Equality Impact Assessment of the proposed 

strategy.  

 

4.2.  The draft strategy and consultation feedback report were presented to a 

Panel of the Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee (CYPOSC) on October 17th and November 28th 2011, and to 

the Community and Voluntary Sector Forum Children’s Network on 

September 21st and December 14th 2011. Their feedback and 

recommendations have informed the final Youth Commissioning Strategy. 

 

4.3 As a result significant changes have been made to the final strategy 

(Appendix 1) to give greater priority to: 

• Balancing mainstream neighborhood based services with dedicated 

provision for young people who are from black and minority ethnic 

communities, who are lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender or who have 

a disability or special educational needs.  

• Providing early help to young people who use or are referred to specialist 

services without having received support from youth work or youth 

provision. 

• Taking a co-production approach to enable local youth work providers to 

collaborate and develop innovative delivery arrangements  

• Strengthening  governance arrangements fully to engage young people 

in the design, delivery and review of services and enable them to engage 

with their communities 

 

5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 

 

 Financial Implications:  

5.1 The costs required for the joint commissioning structure will be met within 

the existing allocated budget for Youth Services. 

 

26



 

 

However no transitional funding is available and if there are additional 

costs associated with the transition to the joint commissioning structure, 

funding for these costs will need to be identified. 

 

 Finance Officer Consulted:  Paul Brinkhurst  Date: 29/11/2011 

 

 Legal Implications: 

 

5.2 Statutory Guidance on Section 507B Education Act 1996 sets out the 

requirement that all local authorities should provide sufficient positive 

leisure time activities for its young people which promote their wellbeing. 

The strategy aims to facilitate meeting this requirement. 

 

 Lawyer Consulted: Natasha Watson   Date: 22/12/2011 

 

 Equalities Implications: 

 

5.3   An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) of the proposed Youth 

Commissioning Strategy was completed between October and 

December 2011.  
 Youth Services EIA January 2012 
 

 

 

 Sustainability Implications: 

 

5.4 The Council’s procurement team will be advising on a sustainable funding 

agreement process.  

 

 Crime & Disorder Implications:  

 

5.5 The Strategy strengthens the ability to work closely with the community 

safety team, ensuring the delivery of youth work that supports the joint 

outcomes across community safety and youth.   

 

 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  

 

5.6 The Youth Project Management Group has completed a risk register 

assessment and identified risks and mitigating actions.  

 

 Public Health Implications: 

 

5.7 This strategy will support enabling the health, well-being and life 

opportunities of young people to be maximised. 

 

 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 

 

5.8 The Strategy is in support of the Council’s priorities as set out in the 

Corporate Plan. The Strategy specifically aims to increase young people 

27



 

 

engagement in service delivery and take up. Inequality will be tackled 

through new delivery models and the funding agreement process will be 

conducted in a sustainable manner.  

 

6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 

 

6.1 Roll forward of existing contracts. This would be against procurement 

regulations. 

 

6.2 Introduction of preferred provider tendering. This would be against 

procurement regulations. 

 

7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

7.1 To meet the commitment in the council’s Corporate Plan to redesign the 

way in which youth services are delivered to ensure young people have 

the opportunity to be active citizens through participating in community 

activities.  

 

7.2 To authorise the Strategic Director People to agree new funding 

agreements as necessary with successful providers to deliver services in 

collaboration with the council’s Youth Service.  

 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 
Appendices: 
1. Services To Young People Joint Commissioning Strategy Final 10.1.12 

 

 
 

Documents in Members’ Rooms 
 
1. Services To Young People Joint Commissioning Strategy Final 10.1.12 

 

   
 
Background Documents 
 
None 
 

28



 1 

Services for young people: Joint Commissioning Strategy 2012-15 

 

Introduction: 

 

This strategy delivers on the commitment in the Corporate Plan, during 

2011/12, to redesign the way in which youth services are delivered to 

ensure young people have the opportunity to be active citizens through 

participating in community activities. 

 

This document is one of the council’s first Intelligent Commissioning 

strategies. It has been produced with young people and our partners 

and staff and is based on an assessment of need and analysis of current 

services.  

 

The strategy sets the outcomes we want for young people and how we 

will work together to commission and deliver the services to achieve 

them as part of the city’s Sustainable Community Strategy and the 

council’s Corporate Plan. 

 

The Intelligent Commissioning approach to services for young people has 

already made a difference: 

- a new Joint Commissioning Board for services to young people is in 

place 

- a city council Facebook page is responding to the request by young 

people for better information about the services and opportunities 

available to them 

- all youth work providers now use the same data base to produce 

regular performance reports against outcomes 

- young people have directly shaped the Equality Impact Assessment 

for this strategy and a participatory budgeting project is underway 

- local providers have updated and are consulting on a youth work 

curriculum which will support a new ‘menu’ of youth work 

interventions 

 

Executive Summary: 

 

A Joint Strategic Needs Assessment found very positive youth services 

that are valued by young people, their families and communities and 

are delivered by a skilled and committed workforce. The assessment 

also found: 

• Young people are unclear about what is on offer and services 

vary between different parts of the city. 

• Too many young people need specialist services without having 

received support from open access or targeted youth work or 

youth provision. 

• Although there is good research evidence to validate open 

access and targeted youth work and youth provision, it is difficult 

29



 2 

to assess the impact and comparative value for money of 

services commissioned from the council’s delivery unit and 

external providers. 

 

Stakeholder discussions and joint working during the review identified 

the outcomes we want for young people.  They are to create: 

• A city where teenage years are safe and rewarding, and where 

young people are supported to achieve their full potential; where 

• Family and community stability is improved through early 

intervention services that enable parents, carers and young 

people to develop their relationships and behave in a responsible 

way. 

• The resilience of young people, especially those who are 

vulnerable or at risk, is improved through advice and targeted 

early intervention services that increase their confidence, self-

esteem, motivation and also their ability to communicate and 

deal with conflict, adversity and the challenges of adult life. 

• Young people have the opportunity to be active citizens, 

participate in community activities and shape the services that 

affect their lives so that values, expectations and responsibilities 

are shared and understood. 

• Young people are able to enjoy their leisure time, using the 

opportunities on offer through open access youth provision and 

cultural, sports and other positive activities across the city, so that 

they are inspired and challenged. 

 

As a result this Commissioning Strategy proposes to: 

• Jointly commission services for young people, taking full 

advantage of the council’s transformation programme, 

intelligent commissioning and partnerships. 

• Commission integrated youth work and youth provision, 

enabling providers to collaborate even more closely to deliver 

services that are accessible to all young people and also 

address the needs of those who are vulnerable or at risk. 

• Empower young people to engage with their communities and 

to shape the services that affect their lives. 

• Procure services in a fair and consistent way, monitoring all 

providers to ensure services are effective, evidence based and 

value for money. 

30



 3 

Section 1: Services for Young People Review and Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment.  

 

Appendix 1 describes the process of the Youth Review, how we 

involved young people and other stakeholders and how we carried 

out the Youth Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (Youth JSNA). 

 

The full Youth JSNA is available at: Youth Service JSNA 2011.   In 

summary it found: 

 

Population profile and summary of needs and activity: 

The Office of National Statistics estimates that in Brighton and Hove 

there are 18,000 young people aged 13-18 (Youth JSNA Chapter 4 

pp 23-27). Of that population: 

- 3,333 live in one of the 20% most deprived Lower Super Output 

Areas (LSOA)in England; 

- Around 9% are from the Black Minority and Ethnic community; 

- 3,200 young people (13-24) are a part of the lesbian, gay, bi-

sexual and transgender (LGBT) community; 

- Between 1,299-3,787 children 0-19 have a disability and the 

number of young people 19-25 with a disability is in the range of 

835 – 1,523  

- 395 are young carers; 

- 711 are not in education, employment or training(NEET); 

- 27% of secondary school children have a special educational 

need 

- 1 in 10 children between 5 and 15 have a mental health issue 

- 200 were First Time Entrants into the Criminal Justice system. 

- 34% of pupils in year 10 have tried substances and 49% drink 

alcohol; 

- 163 were in the substance misuse specialist treatment service (RU-

OK?); 

- 1 in 10 pupils in year 10 are  in a sexual relationship; 

- 147 are teenage parents, and 75% of them are NEET; 

Service Mapping: 

A service mapping exercise was undertaken with the core youth 

work providers in the city, including the council’s youth service and 

local community and voluntary sector organisations i.e. Brighton and 

Hove Youth Service; Brighton Youth Centre; Crew Club; Hangleton 

and Knoll Project; Sussex Central YMCA; Tarnerland; Deans Youth 

Project; Trust for Developing Communities; and the Young People’s 

Centre. 

31



 4 

Profiles were created on the basis of information provided by each 

organisation identifying their aims, objectives and activities. Activity 

level information was mainly taken from the Aspire data base. Staffing 

information was updated in July 2011. Some organisations amended 

their profiles with their own monitoring data (see Appendix 1 p.22 
Provider Questionnaires). The profiles can be accessed at: Brighton and 
Hove Youth Service Profile 2011 12 

Brighton and Hove CVS Youth Projects 2011 12 

 

During the process of the Youth Review and Youth JSNA it became 

clear that youth work and youth provision should be set in the context 

of the wider or universal services for young people i.e. sports, leisure, 

and cultural activities; extra curricular activity in schools; the work of 

community organisations, uniform and faith groups; and services 

provided by the voluntary, independent and commercial sectors.  

As a result a set of contextual city-wide maps has been created 

which can be found at:  

Community Centres and Local Activities Map  

Cultural Group and Services Map  

Educational Services Map  

Faith Uniform and other Groups Map 

Sports and Leisure Map  

Youth Centres and Youth Services Map  

Resources: 

The resources available to the council to commission and provide 

youth work and youth provision 2010-12 are:  

2010/11 2011/12 

Council core budget 1,126,565 938,630 

External Grants (the 

Early Intervention Grant 

in 2011/12) 

1,042,550 623,000 

Total 2,169,115 1,561,630 

Funding for open 1,019,484 848,656 

32



 5 

access youth work and 

youth provision 

Funding for targeted 

youth work and youth 

provision 

1,149,631 712,974 

% of funding to council 

Youth Service 

77% 74% 

% of funding to 

community and 

voluntary sector 

providers 

23% 26% 

 

Members of the Youth Services Joint Commissioning Board estimate 

the following resources were available in 2011/12 to commission 

services for young people: 

Area Budget 2011/12 

Culture and Arts 180,000 

Teenage Pregnancy  

718,800 

 

Health Promotion (Public Health) 

190,500  

 

Children’s Mental Health and 

Disability 

552,600 

 

Young Carers 

98,000 

 

HIV Prevention 

33,000 

 

Take Part 

35,000 

 

Sports facilities*  -  

Substance misuse 

192,656                                                      

 

Housing 

1,185,654 

 

Community Safety 952,450 

33



 6 

Community Engagement 

400,000  

 

Youth Crime Prevention (inc 100,000 

specialist parenting and preventive 

initiatives in schools) 350,000 

Total  4,888,660 

* It is not possible to differentiate between adult/young people 

investment or costs 

 

 

 

 

 

Community and Voluntary youth work providers submitted the 

following information about resources available to the sector in 

2010/11 including funding drawn down from external or national 

funding sources.   

CVS Providers with BHCC 

Children's Services contracts 
2010/11 

Brighton Youth Centre £45,000 

Crew Club £142,900 

Hangleton and Knoll £378,937 

Sussex Central YMCA £195,700 

Tarnerland £48,561 

The Trust for Developing 

Communities 
£55,400 

The Deans Project £205,626 

Young People’s Centre £47,500 

Total £1,119,624 

Service take up: 

Chapter 5 of the Youth JSNA (pp 38-43) provides a breakdown of the take 

up by young people of youth work and youth provision provided by the 

council and local community and voluntary sector organisations. The data 

has been taken from the Aspire data base and from and surveys of young 

people. The Youth JSNA notes: 

34



 7 

‘A Youth Service Data Review involved an analysis of youth service 

data extracted from the caseload management system (Aspire) since it 

was deemed to offer the best source of information on the take up of 

youth services. However, the review highlighted areas of concern about 

the quality and validity of the data. As a result it has been difficult to 

demonstrate that youth services are always consistently and effectively 

matched to the needs of young people’.  (Youth JSNA p.5). 

 

On the basis of the available information the Youth JSNA found: 

- 3,179 individual young people used one of the youth services 

provided or fully/partly commissioned by the council of those 2,882 

were aged 13-18 and 357 were 19-25 

- Of the total number of actual contacts (24,301) 37% are by females 

and 63% are by males – compared to a 50/50 gender split for the 

total 13-18 population 

- Of the 3,179 service users only 1,002 (30%) live  in one of the areas 

identified as being in the 20% most deprived in England 

- Young people from the BME community, who made up 3%-16% of all 

contacts, made up 9% of the study population. Youth centres in the 

East area were less likely to have attendees from the BME community. 

- Analysis of service take-up by other significant groups of young 

people, such as those from the LGBT community or those with 

disabilities, was not possible because the information was not 

available 

- Only 15.4% of the total 13-18 population attended youth work or 

youth provision compared to the national benchmark target of 25% 

- Only 7.5% of young people attended 4 or more times, and so met 

the national standard to be defined as participants – below the 

national benchmark target of 15% 

- 52% of participants gained a recorded outcome to show that they 

had improved their skills. The target rate is 60%. There were a few 

differences by gender and ethnicity: males tended to get more 

outcomes than females (56% compared to 44%); 11% were from the 

BME community. 

- 20% of participants gained an accredited outcome to show that their 

skill improvement had led to a recognised qualification. The target 

rate is 30%. Again, there were a few differences by gender and 

ethnicity: males tended to get more outcomes than females (59% 

compared to 41%); 15% were from the BME community. 

  

Young People at Risk 

 

Two factors have been used to determine the level of risk in the 13-19 

population: the total number of young people living in a defined 

area of the city, and the number of those considered to be at risk of 

poor outcomes because they have at least one of the following 

characteristics i.e. they are 

35



 8 

- Teenage parents or pregnant teenagers: 182 

- Known to substance misuse services: 192 

- First Time Entrants into the Criminal Justice system: 410 

- Not in employment education or training: 503 

- Living in one of the top 20% most deprived LSOA: 3,540 

This snapshot data indicates a total number of young people at risk 

in the city to be 4,144 which is a rate of 29 per 100 of the total 

population 13-18.  This highlights established differences between the 

West and East of the city (see Appendix 3 for detailed city and 

neighborhood profiles) i.e. 

- a total number of young people at risk in the West of 1,929 and 2,215 

in the East 

- a total population distribution of 10,064 in the West and 3,993 in 

the East 

- a risk rate per 100 of the total population of 19 in the West and 55 

in the East 

Youth JSNA: findings and assessment: 

Responding to the views of young people: 

There are a range of issues set out in the reports of the young 

people’s consultation exercises. Commissioners and providers must 

ensure they take into account the views of young people when 

planning services for the future. For example that: 

• Young people are included in how centres are run, right down to 

employment of staff across the system 

• Young people are encouraged to do new things they wouldn’t 

usually do. 

• Services are advertised in a variety of ways which and encourage 

non-service users. 

• Young people feel safe to share and discuss opinions. 

• Young people know where to get advice and support to address 

their needs. 

• There are a range of times and days for different age groups 

including activities at the weekend and later in the evening. 

• Equipment used is up to date and environments are attractive to 

young people. 

 

Matching needs and services: 

Service mapping exercises show that a range of good and effective 

services are delivered in Brighton & Hove. 

 

However, taking into account the data quality issues and while fully 

recognising the obvious popularity with young people of some 

services, it has been difficult to demonstrate that services are always 

36



 9 

consistently and effectively matched to the needs of young people. 

Specifically:  

• Youth provision has, understandably, developed on a pragmatic 

and often local basis, reflecting factors such as the commitment 

of local communities, volunteers and professionals or the 

availability of external funding as well as the level of available 

council funding. As a result the availability of open access and 

targeted services across the city is variable. 

• Only one third of young people living in disadvantaged areas 

access the services initially reviewed as part of the Youth JSNA. 

Profiles of young people attending those services vary 

considerably and referral pathways to targeted / specialist 

services are sometimes unclear; and as a result 

• Services are not always matched effectively to the needs of the 

most vulnerable young people  

 

Information and communication: 

The Youth JSNA and benchmark and evidence reports (see 

Appendix 1 p. 24 ‘What Works’) identified a range of positive 

activities for young people in Brighton and Hove that are valued by 

young people, their families and communities and are delivered 

collaboratively by a skilled and committed workforce. 

 

However, 

• Young people reported that they often had only a partial picture 

of the range of activities and services available either in their 

local communities or, more often, as a whole across the city. This 

lack of awareness was sometimes also reported by staff 

themselves. 

• Although there are some good sources of information, these are 

not always easily accessible to young people, or to some front 

line practitioners. Although often effective, the use of new media 

such as social networking sites are neither used consistently nor 

well coordinated across the city. 

 

Performance management and funding: 

A caseload management system, Aspire, is in place and there has 

been a programme of training and capacity building for all providers 

including front line managers and staff. Some organisations also 

maintain supplementary management and information systems so 

that, with the data from Aspire, the council has been able to meet 

government requirements for reporting on contacts and outcomes. 

 

Providers, from across the council and the local community and 

voluntary sector, have worked together effectively to make good 

use of local resources and successfully draw down external funding 

37



 10 

from central government and other sources such as the National 

Lottery. 

 

However, 

• There are significant gaps in data collection, reporting and 

analysis. There is evidence of a variable capacity and 

commitment to this area of the work. Most significantly, not all 

contracts include the requirement for performance monitoring 

and reporting beyond recording positive activity targets. 

• Similarly, financial data is not collected consistently and this has 

made unit costing and comparative evaluations of provider 

impact difficult. 

• Funding arrangements for the provision of youth services by the 

council and by community and voluntary sector are complex 

(reflecting the previous national grant regime and creative local 

arrangements to drive forward the children and young people’s 

trust service integration agenda). As a result council core funding 

and different sources of external funding have been used 

interchangeably to fund council in-house provision and external 

community and voluntary sector providers. Many have found 

these arrangements confusing. 

• Local community and voluntary sector organisations report that 

external funding, often essential to financial stability, can distort 

the focus of some provision. 

 

Youth JSNA: recommendations 

 

Responding to the views of young people: 

• Commissioners should ensure this information is built into future 

delivery arrangements and should work with providers to establish 

appropriate organisational arrangements such as young people’s 

forums or advisory committees for all youth services. 

• Commissioners should ensure that the voice of young people 

shapes the delivery of youth work provision and is connected to 

the Youth Council to support its wider role across the city. 

 

Matching needs and services: 

• Commissioners should consider how resources are managed 

across the city to improve accessibility and connection to other 

related services, to increase early identification, to support the 

most vulnerable young people and ensure value for money. 

 

Information and communication: 

• Commissioners should consider how the full range of services 

available to young people in the city can be understood and 

communicated. 

 

38



 11 

Performance management and funding: 

• Commissioners should ensure that funding arrangements are 

clear and that consistent outcomes-based performance 

management arrangements are introduced into the 

commissioning, procurement and quality assurance of youth 

service provision. 

• Commissioners should ensure that the management information 

system is fit for purpose in showing the distance travelled for 

young people as a result of a youth work intervention. 

 

Final phase of the Youth Review: 

 

The Youth JSNA recommendations shaped a draft commissioning 

strategy which was subject to extensive consultation between August 

and December 2011 including: 

- posting on the council’s consultation portal  

- independent review and analysis of consultation results by 

Brighton University 

- meetings with council and community and voluntary sector 

managers and front line staff 

- two meetings of a Panel convened by the Children and Young 

People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

- two meetings of the Community and Voluntary Sector Children’s 

Network 

- participation by young people in the Equality Impact Assessment 

of the draft commissioning strategy 

 

As a result significant changes have been made to the final strategy 

set out in this document to give priority to: 

- Balancing mainstream neighborhood based services with 

dedicated provision for young people who are from black and 

minority ethnic communities, who are lesbian, gay, bisexual or 

transgender or who have a disability or special educational 

needs.  

- Providing early help to young people who use or are referred to 

specialist services without having received support from open 

access or targeted youth work or youth provision. 

- Recognising that although there is good research evidence to 

validate open access and targeted youth work and youth 

provision, it is difficult to easily or accurately assess the impact 

and comparative value for money of local services 

commissioned from the council’s delivery unit and external 

providers – including measurement of ‘distance travelled’ by 

individual young people as a result of participating in youth work 

and youth provision 

- Taking a co-production approach to enable local youth work 

providers to collaborate and develop innovative delivery 

39



 12 

arrangements including a shared curriculum and consistent 

service standards  

- Strengthening  governance arrangements fully to engage young 

people in the design, delivery and review of services and enable 

them to engage with their communities 

40



 13 

Section 2: Outcomes for young people 

 

A fundamental purpose of the Youth Review and JSNA process is to 

set the outcomes we want for young people. The following 

outcomes are the result of stakeholder discussions and joint working 

during the review and joint needs assessment process. They are: 

 

An overarching outcome to create: 

• A city where teenage years are safe and rewarding, and where 

young people are supported to achieve their full potential. 

 

Where: 

• Family and community stability is improved through early 

intervention services that enable parents, carers and young 

people to develop their relationships and behave in a responsible 

way. 

• The resilience of young people, especially those who are 

vulnerable or at risk, is improved through advice and targeted 

early intervention services that increase their confidence, self-

esteem, motivation and also their ability to communicate and 

deal with conflict, adversity and the challenges of adult life. 

• Young people have the opportunity to be active citizens, 

participate in community activities and shape the services that 

affect their lives so that values, expectations and responsibilities 

are shared and understood. 

• Young people are able to enjoy their leisure time, using the 

opportunities on offer through open access youth provision and 

cultural, sports and other positive activities across the city, so that 

they are inspired and challenged. 

 

To achieve its outcomes the strategy must achieve a balance 

between: 

• Making the best use of the city’s resources for all of  our young 

people; and  

• Meeting our particular responsibility for vulnerable children and 

young people including those who are: 

o Affected by child poverty and inequality. 

o At risk of harm or neglect, or the impact of teenage 

pregnancy, offending and substance misuse. 

o Disabled, have special educational needs or emotional or 

mental health difficulties. 

o From black and minority ethnic communities. 

o Lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender. 

o Young carers. 

o Not in education, employment or training. 

o Looked after by the local authority. 

 

41



 14 

To do this the council and out partners are committed to: 

• Creating opportunities, raising aspirations and achievement, 

building resilience and providing sustainable support to young 

people, their families and communities  

• Providing opportunities for young people to form relationships 

with youth workers and to take part in a variety of learning 

opportunities provided through youth work such as centre 

based activities, outreach/mobile, group work, 1:2:1, residential 

experiences, trips and outdoor activities. 

• Treating young people as an important group of residents and 

ensuring young people and their parents are aware of the full 

range of cultural and other opportunities available to them. 

 

Fundamental to these outcomes for young people is the strategic direction 

and priorities set by the council’s Corporate Plan and the city’s Sustainable 

Community Strategy. Specifically: 

 

Tackling Inequality: ensuring that all of our children and young people have 

the best possible start in life, so that everyone has the opportunity to fulfil 

their potential, whatever that might be, and to be happy, healthy and safe.   

 

Engaging people who live and work in the city: enabling young people to 

have an active role in the services that affect their lives, their communities 

and the city they live in. and recognising the significant value and benefit 

that the Community & Voluntary Sector provides to our city.  

 

In forming these outcomes, and the commissioning strategy that will deliver 

them, careful consideration has been given to statutory duties, policy 

guidance and professional standards (see Appendix 1). 

 

Particular attention has also been given to key national policy reviews: 

• Early Intervention: The Next Steps. 

• Munro Review of Child Protection. 

• Annual Report of the Director of Public Health, Resilience, Brighton 

and Hove 2011. 

• Marmot Review, Fair Society, Healthy Lives’. 

• Services for young people: Select Committee Report. 

• www.education.gov.uk/positiveforyouth.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

42



 15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 3: Services for Young People - Joint Commissioning Strategy  

 

Section 1 summarised what needs to be done to achieve the 

outcomes and aspirations described in section 2.  This section sets 

out an innovative strategy to meet that challenge by: 

  

1. Jointly commissioning services for young people, taking full 

advantage of the council’s transformation programme, intelligent 

commissioning and partnerships. 

2. Commissioning integrated youth work and youth provision, 

enabling providers to collaborate even more closely to deliver 

services that are accessible to all young people and also address 

the needs of those who are vulnerable or at risk. 

3. Empowering young people to engage with their communities 

and to shape the services that affect their lives. 

4. Procuring services in a fair and consistent way, monitoring all 

providers to ensure services are effective, evidence based and 

value for money. 

 

1. Joint Commissioning of Services for Young People 

 

A Joint Commissioning Board for services for young people has been 

established to:  

• Connect the city’s wider offer to young people to open access 

youth work and youth provision, working with and influencing 

educational, cultural and commercial providers to build the 

networks, shared values and co-operative relationships that 

underpin the city’s social capital 

• Connect specialist services to targeted youth work and youth 

provision, providing early help to reduce the need for specialist 

services while supporting young people who do need to access 

that provision  

• Coordinate the commissioning and consistent procurement and 

performance management of services for young people to 

maximise impact on outcomes and ensure value for money, 

aligning or pooling funding where possible. 

43



 16 

• Work with providers to implement consistent workforce 

development plans that set minimum standards and promote 

continuing professional development. 

 

Membership of the Board includes: commissioners for Youth, Teenage 

Pregnancy and Substance Misuse, Disabled Children and Child and 

Adolescent Mental Health Services, Culture, Sports and Leisure and 

Community Safety; a representative of Head Teachers, the Post 16 

Development Manager, the People and Place Coordinator, the 

Public Health Development Manager and the Sergeant for Strategic 

and Neighborhood Policing Support 

 

To support the Joint Commissioning Board Appendix 2 sets out: 

• A joint commissioning framework for services for young people 

• An integrated care pathway - Supporting Families in Brighton 

and Hove 

• A baseline summary of current joint commissioning activity and 

investment that provides the wider context for youth work and 

youth provision  

 

2. Commissioning Integrated Youth Work and Youth Provision: 

 

The Joint Commissioning Board will have an overview of all services 

for young people. Within that overview the council’s Children’s 

Commissioning Unit will be responsible for commissioning open access 

and targeted youth work and youth provision delivered by the 

council’s Youth Service and community and voluntary sector 

organisations. 

 

Commissioners will: 

• Connect open access youth work and youth provision to the 

city’s wider offer to young people 

• Connect targeted youth work and youth provision to specialist 

services for young people, where possible providing early help 

to prevent the need for referral 

• Balance mainstream neighborhood based services with 

dedicated provision for young people who are from black and 

minority ethnic communities, who are lesbian, gay, bisexual or 

transgender or who have a disability or special educational 

needs.  

• Co-produce innovative delivery arrangements with local youth 

work providers  

• Assess the impact and comparative value for money of 

services commissioned from the council’s delivery unit and 

external providers – including measurement of ‘distance 

travelled’ by individual young people as a result of 

participating in youth work and youth provision 

44



 17 

 

Commissioned services will make a significant impact at 3 points on 

the children’s integrated care pathway (Appendix 2): 

• Strengthening community assets: supporting the city’s universal  

provision and the social capital that underpins it 

• Prevention: supporting the preventive strategies which build the 

resilience of  families to enable them care for their children, 

and the resilience of young people to enable them to make 

positive choices about their lifestyles 

• Early Intervention: providing early help to young people 

identified as being vulnerable or at risk and therefore likely to 

need specialist level 3 services 

 

Commissioners and providers will ‘co-produce’ delivery arrangements 

for youth work and youth provision through: 

• An independently facilitated process involving the council’s 

youth service and current external providers to develop 

proposals for mainstream neighborhood services 

• Collaborative  meetings between commissioners and 

advocacy and/or provider organisations for young people who 

are from black and minority ethnic communities, who are 

lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender or who have a disability or 

special educational needs.  

 

This approach will enable: 

• Commissioners to strategically target resources, while ensuring 

open access youth work and youth provision is available across 

the city. 

• Providers to work together to make the best use of available 

resources and local intelligence about vulnerable young 

people  

• Commissioners and providers to work with young people to 

enable them to have an active and positive role in their local 

communities; and  

 

A critical part of the co-production process is to establish 

responsibility for the leadership, coordination and governance of 

youth work and youth provision for both mainstream neighborhood 

and specialist city wide provision. That leadership role will include: 

• Provision of information and advice to help young people to 

access the city’s inclusive universal services and open access 

youth centres, especially opportunities that are open to all but 

only available in one location. 

• Delivery of inclusive open access youth work and youth 

provision in local areas including centre based, advice, 

outreach and detached work. 

45



 18 

• Delivery of targeted youth work and youth provision in local 

areas and for young people who are from black and minority 

ethnic communities, who are lesbian, gay, bisexual or 

transgender or who have a disability or special educational 

needs.  

• Signposting specialist services or directly supporting individual 

young people to access those services 

 

To support co-production, procurement and performance 

management Appendix 3 sets out detailed city and neighborhood 

profiles and performance frameworks. 

 

3. Empowering young people:  

 

Empowerment of young people is the principle that drives this 

strategy.  Commissioners and providers will: 

• Support and develop arrangements for engaging young 

people including: the Youth Council, local Youth Forums, 

groups such as the Looked After Children’s Listen Up Group, 

the Aiming Higher Advisory Group for young people with a 

disability and specialist community and voluntary sector youth 

organisations and School and College councils. 

• Build the findings of the Youth JSNA into future delivery 

arrangements and relevant compacts, contracts, grant 

funding arrangements and participatory budgets 

• Establish governance structures that engage young people in 

the design, delivery and review of services and enable them 

to participate in their communities 

• Take forward learning from the youth participatory budgeting 

pilot to strengthen young people’s impact on decision making, 

commissioning and service delivery. 

 

To support empowerment and engagement Appendix 4 sets out a 

preliminary governance framework for services for young people. 

 

 

 

 

4. Procurement and performance management:  
 

This commissioning strategy requires the transformation of youth work 

and youth provision, as well as significant change across universal 

services for young people.  To achieve this safely there will need to be 

a transitional period to ensure services are not disrupted – especially 

during Easter and summer holiday periods.    

 

46



 19 

Two initiatives have been put in place to manage this transitional 

period alongside the new Joint Commissioning Board: 

 

• Project Management and development of funding agreements: 

A short life project group is managing the implementation, 

procurement and performance management processes. The 

group brings together the council’s legal, procurement, 

financial and project management expertise as part of the 

council’s approach to Intelligent Commissioning. This includes 

exploration and development of flexible arrangements for 

funding agreements which will be compliant with procurement 

regulations, consistent with the principles of intelligent 

commissioning and will reflect national good practice 

 

• Co-production: The council has recently been awarded 

Breakthrough Project status by the Local Government 

Association’s ‘Local Government Leadership Centre’.  As part 

of a national initiative this project will fund an independent 

broker to work with community and voluntary sector providers  

and the council’s youth service to ‘co-produce’ proposals to 

deliver the commissioning intentions set out in Section 3 

‘Commissioning Integrated Youth Work and Youth Provision’.  A 

parallel process, facilitated by council officers, will take place 

with providers of specialist equalities services. Both  co-

production processes will comply with and develop the tools 

and frameworks set out in the appendices to this strategy i.e.: 

• Appendix 2: Joint commissioning framework; Integrated care 

pathway; Baseline summary of commissioning activity and 

investment; 

• Appendix 3: Neighbourhood and city profiles and 

performance frameworks 

• Appendix 4: preliminary  governance framework 

• Appendix 5: Preliminary funding agreement timeline 
 

47



 20 

Appendix 1: Services for Young People Review and Joint Needs 

Assessment 

 

Review Participants:  

The review has had different participants during its three phases: 

 

The initial consultation and needs assessment was coordinated by a 

Joint Steering Group which was also responsible for engaging and 

involving young people in the process - see Youth Service JSNA 2011. 

for details of Young People’s Reference and Focus Groups. 

 

Name and role  Organisation 

Sally Wadsworth – Head of Strategic 

Commissioning 

(Chair) 

Kerry Clarke – Strategic 

Commissioner(Youth, Teenage Pregnancy, 

Substance Misuse) 

Children’s Services 

Chris Parfitt – Manager Integrated Youth 

Support Service 

Children’s Services 

Philip Ward – Manager Integrated Youth 

Support Service 

Children’s Services 

Jess Wood – Project Director Allsorts Youth 

Project 

Community and Voluntary 

Sector Forum Representative 

Darren Snow – Manager Crew Club Community and Voluntary 

Sector Forum Representative 

Sam Warren – City Neighbourhood 

Coordinator 

City Council – Communities 

and Equalities Team. 

Tina Owen – Participation Team Manager Children’s Services 

Gary Rolf – Youth Worker Woodingdean Youth Centre; 

supporting young people 

Ben Glazebrook – Project Manager Impact 

Initiatives 

Community and Voluntary 

Sector Forum Representative  

Sue Barnes – Development Worker Children 

Can Do Novas Scarman Group 

Community and Voluntary 

Sector Forum Representative  

Nicky Cambridge – City Council People 

and Place Coordinator  

Communities and Equalities 

Team 

 

 

 

48



 21 

 

 

 

2. From January 2011 the review has been coordinated by a Youth 

Review Partnership Group involving both commissioners and 

providers. 

 

Name and role  Organisation 

Steve Barton – Lead Commissioner (Chair) Children, Youth and Families 

Commissioning Team, BHCC 

Kerry Clarke – Strategic 

Commissioner(Youth, Teenage Pregnancy, 

Substance Misuse) 

Children, Youth and Families 

Commissioning Team, BHCC 

Chris Parfitt – Youth and Connexions 

Service Manager 

Council Children and Families 

Delivery Unit 

Philip Ward – Youth and Connexions 

Service Manager 

Council Children and Families 

Delivery Unit 

Jess Wood – Project Director Allsorts Youth 

Project and CVS rep 

Community and Voluntary 

Sector Forum Representative 

Ben Glazebrook– Project Manager Impact 

Initiatives and CVS rep. 

Community and Voluntary 

Sector Forum Representative 

David Higgins – Young Carers Project 

Manager and CVS rep. 

Community and Voluntary 

Sector Forum Representative 

Paula Murray – Lead Commissioner for 

Culture 

City Council 

Gayle Fagan – Head Teacher Patcham 

House School 

Schools Head representative 

Hayden Stride – Head Teacher Longhill 

School 

Schools Head representative 

Lydie Lawrence – Public Health 

Development Manager 

Public Health - Children and 

Young People’s Lead 

Linda Beanlands – Commissioner 

Community Safety 

City Council  

Peter Castleton – Sergeant Strategic and 

Neighbourhood Policing Support Brighton 

and Hove Division 

Sussex Police 

Janita Bagshaw – Head of Royal Pavilion 

and Museums 

City Council 

49



 22 

Michael Nix – Post 16 Development 

Manager 

City Council – Schools, Skills 

and Learning 

Sam Warren – City Neighbourhood 

Coordinator  

City Council Communities and 

Equalities Team 

Ian Shurrock – Commissioner for Sports and 

Leisure 

City Council 

Sally McMahon – Head of Libraries City Council 

3. From July 2011 separate Partnership and Joint Commissioning 

Groups were established to oversee the final consultation process, 

establish new partnership, provider and governance arrangements 

and commence joint commissioning. 

Review Process: 

 Engagement of young people: 

Two groups of young people, from a range of backgrounds, carried 

out consultations and evaluations of statutory and voluntary youth 

services across the city. Each service was reviewed against the 

Quality Standards for Positive Activities framework (DCSF, March 

2010) and then RAG rated according to performance.  

One group of young people carried out consultations with these 

local authority youth groups: Whitehawk Youth Centre, 67 Centre, 

Hollingdean Dip, Patcham Youth Centre, Portslade Village Centre 

and Hangleton Youth Centre, (Brighton Young Voices, 2010). 

 

A separate group of young people carried out consultations with 

eight organisations from the 3rd sector: Brighton Youth Centre, Sussex 

Central YMCA, Hangleton and Knoll Project, Allsorts, Young People’s 

Centre, Crew Club and The Deans Youth Project. The services were 

chosen to focus not only on universal services, but also those working 

with young people from protected groups or those with additional 

needs (Young People’s Reference Group, 2010). 

 

Using the Aspire database young people aged 13-19 were sent a 

text inviting them to fill in an online survey giving their views on the 

current youth service. Contact was made in this way to ensure that 

all young people could give their opinion, including those who do 

not use youth centres at all or regularly. Information from this group 

of non users gives a valuable insight into service gaps and the extent 

to which the current youth offer matches what young people want 

or need. Service providers under review also promoted the survey to 

try to maximise the number of young people taking part. 

Young people have also been fully involved with the Equality Impact 

Assessment of the draft strategy which was the subject of public 

consultation during August and September 2011. 

Provider questionnaires 

50



 23 

Providers of the nine youth services under review were asked to 

complete a questionnaire on the aims and objectives of the services 

they offer, the programme of activities, staffing and funding. Providers 

were also asked to check and comment on the accuracy of the 

data that was extracted from the Aspire database for the purpose of 

the review. As the scope of the Youth Service Review widened to 

include protected groups and those with additional needs, 

information about service provision and profiles of the young people 

they work with were also requested from: Allsorts, Safe and Sorted, 

Targeted Youth Support, Youth Advice Centre, Sussex Central YMCA 

Youth Work Programme, Young People’s Centre (for Targeted 

Teenage Pregnancy Work), 180 Detached Project, Black Minority 

Ethnic Young People’s Project and organisations which work with 

young people who have a disability. The results were turned into 
profile reports available at: Brighton and Hove Youth Service Profile 2011 12 

Brighton and Hove CVS Youth Projects 2011 12 

 

 

Stakeholder Views 

Stakeholder meetings were held throughout the Youth Service 

Review to give providers the opportunity to give feedback on the 

process and to give an insight into the needs of the young people 

that they work with. Stakeholders were also invited to attend a youth 

service review challenge event where they were asked to feedback 

on the process to date. 

 

A draft commissioning strategy was released for consultation 

between August and December 2011 including: 

- posting on the council’s consultation portal  

- independent review and analysis of consultation results by 

Brighton University 

- meetings with council and community and voluntary sector 

managers and front line staff 

- two meetings of a Panel convened by the Children and Young 

People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

- two meetings of the Community and Voluntary Sector Children’s 

Network 

- participation by young people in the Equality Impact Assessment 

of the draft commissioning strategy 

 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment: 

 

The full Youth JSNA is available at: Youth Service JSNA 2011.  

 

Youth JSNA Methodology: 

51



 24 

Youth service activity data was extracted from the Aspire caseload 

information system to assess what 13-19 year olds were being offered 

by youth clubs over the 2009/10 financial year. The primary aim of 

the data analysis was to find out the following: 

• The number of hours of non-physical activities provided against a 

target of 2-5 hrs per week. This includes activities which help 

young people’s personal, social, spiritual, creative, innovation 

and enterprise and study skills for example. 

• The number of hours of physical activities provided against a 

target of 2-5 hrs per week. This includes activities which involve 

participating in sports such as football, aerobics and dance. 

• The proportion of young people in the 13-18 population who 

contacted a youth service against a target of 25%. This is called 

the reach and can be monitored to ensure that a sufficient 

amount of opportunities are on offer for young people. 

• The number of young people in the 13-18 population who 

contacted a service four or more times and therefore was 

defined as a participant in youth work against a target of 15%. 

How often young people use the same youth centre is a good 

indication of the extent young people incorporate youth work 

activities into their lives. 

• The proportion of participants in youth work who gained a 

recorded outcome against a target of 60%.  

• The proportion of participants in youth work who gained an 

accredited outcome against a target of 30%.  

• The data was also used to look at the location of services in 

relation to where young people aged 13-25 live. Comparisons of 

the profile of attendees were made to the general population in 

terms of age, gender and ethnicity to establish if any groups were 

over or under-represented in youth work activities. 

 

Scope: 

The nine services included within the review were: 

The Council Youth Service, delivered from the following points: 67 

Centre, Hangleton Youth Centre, Hollingdean Project, Patcham 

Youth Centre, Whitehawk Youth Centre, Portslade Village Centre; 

and the Brighton Youth Centre, Crew Club, Hangleton and Knoll 

Project, Sussex Central YMCA, Tarnerland, Trust for Developing 

Communities, Deans Youth Project, Young People’s Centre. 

 

A drawback of using the data from the Aspire database is that it 

does not provide information about activities young people are 

taking part in outside of youth clubs. For example, through extended 

schools, sports and leisure centres libraries or museums. To gauge 

what else is on offer around the city for young people, a service 

mapping exercise was carried out. Various directories of young 

people’s services were used to collate information about what 

52



 25 

activities 13-18/25 year olds can participate in and what services 

were available for those with additional needs or from protected 

groups. The directories used were from the IYSS (Things To Do and 

Places To Go For Young People In Brighton & Hove), the Family 

Information Service (FIS), the community & voluntary sector 

organisations in Brighton & Hove (Services for Children and Young 

People), Active for Life and extended school services.  

 

Community Centres and Local Activities Map  

Cultural Group and Services Map  

Educational Services Map  

Faith Uniform and other Groups Map 

Sports and Leisure Map  

Youth Centres and Youth Services Map  

What works? 

On the basis of local and national benchmarking evidence and the 

views of young people and other stakeholders in Brighton and Hove 

the Youth JSNA identified ‘what works’ for each stakeholder group 

(see Directory of Principles Best Practice and Evidence of Effective 

Practice 28-10-2011 and Positive Activity Outcomes Mapped Against 

Evidence ). 

 

For all young people: 

• Activities that are affordable, enjoyable and stimulating and 

reflect their needs. 

• Safe places where they can meet and make friends develop their 

social skills and build their self confidence. 

• Activities and places where the young person’s voice is heard, 

and where they have the opportunity to make a difference to 

their local communities. 

• Access to information, advice and guidance when they need it. 

• Activities that are delivered in partnership with other 

organisations, for example professional sports coaches and 

tournaments, musicians and music workshops, or joint working 

with the police and community safety initiatives. 

For young people who may be vulnerable, in need or at risk: 

• Day trips or short residential breaks to provide a break from their 

everyday lives. 

• Activities which celebrate and affirm the identity of young people 

from black and minority ethnic communities, young people who 

are lesbian, gay, bisexual or transgender or have a disability. 

53



 26 

• Targeted programmes, including diversionary programmes, 

informal accredited learning and opportunities to consider and 

be challenged about risk taking or anti social behaviour. 

• Individual and group work support to help young people dealing 

with issues in their lives such as domestic violence, sexual health, 

substance misuse, and relationships to enable them to relate well 

to each other. 

• Clear referral pathways so those most in need or at risk receive 

the professional help and protection they need including support 

to engage their families with appropriate services. 

 

For parents and carers: 

• Knowing what is available for their children and where it is 

located. 

• Being able to access support and advice themselves when family 

life is chaotic or challenging. 

 

For communities: 

• Volunteering projects that engage young people to enable them 

to feel a part of their neighbourhood. 

• Showcasing community events and mini-projects that bring 

different generations together to share experiences, develop 

relationships and improve understanding. 

• Initiatives which focus on particular issues of shared concern, 

especially local outreach services to address anti-social 

behaviour. 

 

For schools and colleges: 

• Joint working to identify and support those vulnerable young 

people who would most benefit from group work programmes 

where they can discuss their issues and where professionals can 

provide support and, where necessary, challenge behaviour. 

• Joint working with other providers to promote and provide 

positive activities together. 

 

Legislation and Statutory Guidance: 

The United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UN, 1989) 

and the Children’s Act 1989 recognise the government’s duty to 

ensure that all young people who are capable of forming their own 

views have the right to express them freely in all matters that affect 

them.  

 

The statutory guidance on Section 507B Education Act 1996 sets out 

the requirement that all local authorities should provide sufficient 

positive leisure time activities for its young people which promote 

their wellbeing and are delivered using youth work methods and 

approaches.  

54



 27 

 

Policy and professional standards: 

 

The core principles of youth work are: empowerment; participation; 

equality of opportunity; voluntary engagement; and informal 

education. 

 

The following summary of key principles has been taken from 

National Youth Association (October 2010), C4E0 (September 2010), 

DoH (2007), DfES (2006) and Community Engagement Framework 

2009 for Brighton & Hove: 

• Opportunity, availability and accessibility should be equable for 

all young people. 

• Service provision should improve the learning environment and 

(re)engage young people in education and learning where 

appropriate. 

• Services should work with young people and families and carers. 

• Additional support should be provided for young people who are 

vulnerable or have additional needs including those from 

protected groups including young people who are disabled, from 

black or minority ethnic communities, lesbian, gay, bisexual or 

transgender, who want to have the choice of being able to 

access universal services or specialist services. 

• Information about services should be accessible for both young 

people and their parents/carers. It should be clear, precise, show 

the benefit of the provision and be kept up to date. 

• Young people should be included in decision making including 

the design, promotion and delivery of services and activities and 

their feedback should be requested, listened to and acted upon. 

• Young people should play an active part in their local 

communities. All community engagement activity will have clarity 

of purpose and be clear about what difference it will make to the 

community. 

• Services working with young people should be efficient, of high 

quality and have a skilled workforce 

• Hear by Right standards (National Youth Agency & Local 

Government Association, 2008) promote best practice on safe, 

sound and sustainable participation of young people in the 

decision making process about the services they take part in.  

 

This strategy also takes into account the government statement 

issued in December 2011 on Positive for Youth: A new approach to 

cross cutting policy for young people aged 13 – 19. 

 

 

 

 

55



 28 

Appendix 2: Joint Commissioning: 

1. Joint commissioning framework for services for young people: 

A city where teenage years are safe and rewarding and where young people are 

supported to achieve their full potential: 

Commissioned activities or services Outcomes 

Universal services for young people:  

Sports, leisure, and cultural activities, extra-

curricular activities in schools, the work of 

community organisations, uniform and faith 

groups and services provided by the 

voluntary, independent and commercial 

sectors.  

Open access youth work and youth 

provision: 

Youth work programmes providing 

constructive leisure and informal education 

activities for all young people. Based on a 

youth work curriculum and values the 

programmes will include positive activities 

and individual support to enable young 

people to take full advantage of the 

leisure, education and training 

opportunities available to them. 

 

Targeted youth work and youth provision: 

Youth work group and/or individual 

programmes providing early intervention 

support to young people in need or likely 

to be involved in risky or anti-social 

behaviour. 

Dedicated provision for young people who 

have a disability or special educational 

needs, are from black and minority ethnic 

communities or are lesbian, gay, bisexual 

or transgender. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Family and community stability is improved 

through early intervention services that enable 

parents, carers and young people to develop 

their relationships and behave in a responsible 

way. 

 

The resilience of young people, especially 

those who are vulnerable or at risk, is improved 

through advice and targeted early 

intervention services that increase their 

confidence, self-esteem, motivation and also 

their ability to communicate and deal with 

conflict, adversity and the challenges of adult 

life. 

 

Young people have the opportunity to be 

active citizens, participate in community 

activities and shape the services that affect 

their lives so that values, expectations and 

responsibilities are shared and understood. 

 

Young people are able to enjoy their leisure 

time, using the opportunities on offer through 

open access youth provision and through the 

cultural, sports and other positive activities on 

offer across the city, so that they are inspired 

and challenged. 

 

56



 29 

Specialist services for young people: 

For young people who are in significant 

need or who are at risk including child 

protection, mental health, drug and 

alcohol misuse, youth offending, and 

housing services 

 

 

 

2. Integrated care pathway  - Supporting Families in Brighton and 

Hove: 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

57



 30 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3. Baseline summary: current commissioning activity and investment  

 

Area 
Budget 
2011/12 

Youth Work 
Outcomes Pathway  Activity C

o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 A
re
a
 

B
u
d
g
e
t 2
0
1
1
/1
2
 

B
e
tte
r u
s
e
 o
f le

is
u
re
 tim

e
 

Im
p
ro
v
in
g
 R
e
s
ilie
n
c
e
 

A
c
tiv
e
 c
itiz
e
n
s
h
ip
, P
a
rtic

ip
a
tio
n
 

a
n
d
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

B
e
tte
r F
a
m
ily
 a
n
d
 C
o
m
m
u
n
ity
 

S
ta
b
ility

 

U
n
iv
e
rs
a
l S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 fo
r y
o
u
n
g
 

p
e
o
p
le
 

O
p
e
n
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 y
o
u
th
 w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 

y
o
u
th
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 

T
a
rg
e
te
d
 Y
o
u
th
 w
o
rk
 a
n
d
 Y
o
u
th
 

P
ro
v
is
io
n
 

S
p
e
c
ia
lis
t S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 fo
r Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le
 

W
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
in
g
 A
c
tiv
ity
 

Culture and 
Arts 

£180,000 
 
 ü ü ü   ü     

WhiteNight 
(£10K); Brighton 
Dome and 
Festival (£150k); 
Express Network 
(£5K); Annual 
Grants (£15K).  

Teenage 
Pregnancy  

£718,800 
  ü  ü   ü ü ü 

CASH 
(Contraception 
and Sexual 
Health ) Services 
across the city 
and with 
vulnerable 
groups, Teenage 
Pregnancy 
prevention post, 
Young Women’s 
Health post ) 
termination 
prevention), 
school based 
health drop-ins, 
screening and 
interventions 
across vulnerable 
groups, early 
years support to 
young parents, 

58



 31 

accommodation 
support for young 
parents, young 
parenting course, 
re-integration 
support for 
school aged 
parent, specialist 
midwifery 
support. 

Health 
Promotion 

£190,500 
public 
health 
  ü   ü  ü    

Children’s 
Mental 
Health and 
Disability 

£552,600 
 ü ü  ü    ü  

206,000 Teen to 
Adult Personal 
Advisor Service 
(TAPAS) service 
within Sussex 
Partnership 
Foundation Trust 
(SPFT) 14-25 
age range 
29,000  Impact 
initiatives 
counselling 13-25 
46,600 Youth 
Advice Centre 
(YAC) 
80,000 
befriending 
disabled children 
191,000 youth 
holiday scheme- 
disabled children 
 

Young 
Carers 

Total - 
£98,000 
 ü       ü  

Young Carers 
aged 8-17 years                    
Young Carers 
Team at Carers 
Centre jointly 
funded     
Adult Social Care 
(ASC) £29.5K                                              
Children's 
Services £18K                       
PCT £16.5K                                 
Young Carers 
Schools Worker 
PCT funded 
£18K                         
Young Carers 
Needs Ax and 
Reviews spot 
purchased from 
Young Carers 
Team budget 
£16K 

59



 32 

HIV 
Prevention 

£33,000 
  ü      ü  

Specific HIV 
prevention work 
with LGBT young 
people. 

Take Part 
£35,000 
 ü  ü ü ü  ü  ü  

Sports 
facilities 

Contract 
sums 
 ü    ü  ü   

Ongoing 
partnership with 
Freedom/Mytime 
as part of 10 year 
contracts 
 

Substance 
misuse 

Total 
£192,656                                                      
  ü   ü ü  ü  

Young Peoples 
Substance 
Misuse  Tier 
three treatment 
service – Ruok 
Contribution to 
tier 2 prevention 

Housing 

£1,185,6
54 
 ü ü ü ü   ü ü  

Accommodation 
projects for 
young people 

Community 
Safety 

£3.1m on 
whole 
communi
ty safety 
budget 
 
Total for 
Children 
and 
Young 
People -  
£952,450 
  ü ü ü   ü ü  

Substance 
misuse worker at 
ruok = £40k,  
Anti-Social 
Behaviour (ASB): 
£324k - U18's 
(10% of total Asb 
budget) U25 
goes up to 50%.. 
Family 
Intervention 
Project (FIP) 
£610k total and 
70% on under 
18's, 80% under 
25's. hate crime 
£398k - only 5% 
on young people, 
sexual violence 
£106k total and 
only 5% under 
18's and 40% 
under 25's. 
Domestic 
Violence (DV) 
£545k 50% for 
under 25s, 25% 
under 18's. 

Community 
Engageme
nt 

Total - 
400k  
 ü ü ü ü ü ü ü ü  

Continued 
Community 
Development 
Commissioning 

Youth 
Crime 
Prevention 

Total  
£350,000 
 ü ü ü ü   ü ü  

Delivery of a 
youth crime 
prevention 
team/resources. 

 

60



 33 

 

 

 

 

 

61



 34 

Appendix 3: Integrated youth work and youth provision city and 

neighborhood profiles and performance frameworks. 

 

This section presents 4 items 

1. Youth work and youth provision map  by proposed 

neighborhoods and  showing the distribution of young people 

at risk by each neighborhood 

2. An illustrative youth work and youth provision neighborhood 

profile  - Area 3 (Moulescoomb) 

3. The corresponding neighborhood framework’  

4. The city youth equalities profile (the city youth equalities 

performance framework will be developed to complement 

the neighbourhood frameworks). 

 

62



 35 

 

 

 

 

Youth Work and Youth Provision Neighbourhoods  

 

Area 2: Whitehawk 
yp at risk =   1,394             
Population =  1,743 
Risk Rate = 80 per 100 
% of total risk population = 24% 

% of total population = 10% 

Area 6: South West 
Yp at risk = 517                
Population = 3,230 
Risk rate = 16 per 100 
% of total risk population = 9% 

% of total population = 19% 

Area 1: The Deans 
Yp at risk =  233           
Population = 1,373  
Risk rate = 17 per 100 
% of total risk population = 4% 
% of total population = 8% 

Area 5: North West 
Yp at risk = 708                 
Population =  3,728 
Risk rate = 19 per 100 
% of total risk population =12% 
% of total population = 21% 

Area 3: Moulsecoomb 
Yp at risk = 1,579       
Population = 2,256 
Risk rate = 70 per 100 
% of total risk population = 27% 

% of total population = 13% 

Area 4: Central  
yp at risk = 1,322              
Population =  5,086 
Risk Rate = 26 per 100 
% of total risk population = 23% 
% of total population = 29% 
 

See City, Equalities and Neighbourhood Profiles: Methodology for more details 

6
3



 36 

The full set of neighbourhood profiles can be found here: City, 
Equalities and Neighbourhood Profiles (2012). Below is an example taken from 

Area 3 (Moulescoomb). 

 

Example of a youth work and youth provision neighborhood profile 

Young People and Place Data  

AREA 3  

 
Covering Children Centre Areas • Moulescoomb 
Social Capital & Community Assets (this includes community groups and networks, volunteering 

and local forums within each area and/or linking to other areas and the city as a whole) 

• Be Vocal Youth Forum 

• Young People’s Activity Group 

• 67 centre  

• Trust for Developing Communities – Bevendean  

 

Youth Work and Youth Provision (local youth centres, facilities and meeting places) 

Universal Access Services:  

• Brighton Aldridge Community Academy (BACA) 

• Patcham High School  

• Moulescoomb Community Leisure Centre 

 

Open access youth work and youth provision:  

• BHCC youth work from 67 centre 

• Youth Employability Service @ 67 Centre 

 

Targeted youth work and youth provision & Specialist  

• BHCC targeted youth work from 67 centre 

• TAPA workers @ 67 centre 

• Targeted Teenage Pregnancy Prevention worker @ 67 Centre 

 

Local challenges/Issues 

Issues identified in Brighton & Hove’s Director of Public Health Report (2010) 

• Above average levels of crime and anti-social behaviour 

• High proportion of adults with low or no qualifications 

• Education vulnerabilities for young people 

• Poorer  than average health outcomes   

• High barrier to housing and services   

 

64



 37 

Issues identified by young people 

• Community safety: park lights, cleaner parks/public spaces 

• Community safety: policing and anti-bullying 

• Environment: waste collection and recycling 

• Housing: waiting lists and priority housing 

• Education: affordability and life skills 

• Finance: affordability  

1. Public transport 
2. Education 
3. Access to services 

• Transport to and from school is a problem, the journey involves changes and often results in 

being late for school. 

Demography (Note: counts are based on 13-18 year olds unless stated otherwise) 

Number of  LSOAs in top  20% most deprived 

LSOAs in England 

 

7 

Proportion of 13-18 population living in top 

20% most deprived LSOAs 

 

66% 

0-24 year olds population 13,575 

13-18 years population 2,256 

Age  

13-15 

16-18 

 

746  (33%)             

1,510 (67%)     

Gender  

Male 

Female   

    

1,058 (47%)            

1,198 (53%) 

Black & Minority Ethnic Community 204 (13%) 

Young people at risk on Aspire 

 

YP with substance misuse issues 

Young people involved in offending 

Teenage Parents and pregnant teenagers 

Young carers 

Young people with social care involvement 

In the top 20% most deprived LSOAs 

   Young people not in Education, Employment or 

Training (NEET) 

Total of 1,100 (70%) 

 

15           

91           

16    

16 

68        

1,034      

94           

 

Children identified as having an initial 

assessment (IA), Child in Need (CIN), on a Child 

Protection Plan (CPP) or Looked After in Care 

(LAC)  

 

IA 

CIN 

CPP 

LAC 

89 

 

 

 

 

6 

41 

7 

35 

Special Educational Needs Statements 88 

For details on the calculations see: City, Equalities and Neighbourhood Profiles: 

Methodology. 

65



 38 

For each area there is a corresponding Performance Framework, see 

the following links: 

Services for young people performance framework: Area 1 The Deans 

Services for young people performance framework: Area 2 Whitehawk 

Services for young people performance framework: Area 3 Moulescoomb 

Services for young people performance framework: Area 4 Centre Strip 

Services for young people performance framework: Area 5 North West 

Services for young people performance framework: Area 6 South West 

 

An example of a Performance Framework is taken from Area 3 

(Moulescoomb) follows: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

66



 39 

 

Example of a services for young people performance framework for Area Three: Moulsecoomb 
 
Commissioning Strategy  Outcome 2012-13 Performance Indicators (and measurement 

process) 
Performance Indicator targets (to be 
negotiated with providers) 

Family and community stability is 
improved through early intervention 
services that enable parents, carers and 
young people to develop their 
relationships and behave in a 
responsible way  

Increase in numbers of 11-16 year olds reporting they have 
participated in an out of school activity led by an adult in the last 
4 weeks (Safe and Well School Survey) 
 
Increase in the percentage of young people who believe that 
people from different backgrounds get on well together in their 
local area. (Safe and Well School Survey) 
 
Increase in the percentage of people feeling safe in the daytime 
and after dark in their local area. (Safe and Well School Survey) 
 
Families receive an appropriate youth work family intervention 
as a result of the Common Assessment Framework  and 
report improvements in their relationships within the 
family(Where Are You Now tool) 

Year one baseline to be established (SAWSS 
2011) with 5% increase year on year 
 
 
Year one baseline to be established (SAWSS 
2012) with 5% increase year on year. 
 
 
 
Year one baseline to be established (SAWSS 
2011) with 5% increase year on year. 
 
 
80% of young people in receipt of Common 
Assessment Framework / parenting support 

The resilience of young people, 
especially those who are vulnerable or 
at risk, is improved through advice and 
targeted early intervention services that 
increase their confidence, self-esteem, 
motivation and also their ability to 
communicate and deal with conflict, 
adversity and the challenges of adult life  
 

Young people (with three or more risk factors) accessing 
commissioned youth service sessions attend 4 times or more 
times in a year and become a participant. (Aspire) 
 
Young people (participants with 3 or more risk factors) report 
improvement in soft skills as a result of the delivery of the 
Youth Curriculum:  

• Sex and relationship 

• Substance misuse 

• Risky and challenging behaviours 

• Raising aspirations, participation and empowerment. 

• Emotional, physical and social well being and 
independence. 

(Aspire)  

310* young people aged 13-18 years with three or 
more risk factors 
 
 
100% of participants  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

6
7



 40 

 
Participants (with three or more risk factors) receive an 
accredited outcome  (Aspire) 
 
Young people (with three or more risk factors) demonstrate a 
distance travelled and reduction of risk  (Where Are You Now 
tool)  
 
Young parents to access Employment, Education and Training 
opportunities within the city. (Aspire) 
 
Young parents to achieve Level 1 qualifications in numeracy 
and literacy. (Aspire) 
 
Sexually active young people report using contraception 
effectively (Service User Survey) 
 
Young people identified as using substances/alcohol report a 
reduction in their use. (Service User Survey) 
 
Young people who have been involved in crime / ASB report a 
reduction in their involvement in crime / ASB.  (Service User 
Survey) 
 

Young people have an Improved ability to speak freely about 
domestic violence by creating a safe environment that leads to 
an increase in their physical and emotional safety.  (Service 
User Survey) 
 
Redirected Common Assessment Frameworks  will be 
allocated by the in-house youth service to appropriate 
destinations. (Aspire) 

 
50% of participants 
 
 
80% of participants; 100% of participant with a 
Common Assessment Framework 
 
 
60% of teenage parent participants 
 
 
40% of young parent participants 
 
 
80% of group work / 1:2:1 participants 
 
 
80% of group work / 1:2:1 participants 
 
 
80% of group work / 1:2:1 participants. 
 
 
 
80% of group work / 1:2:1 participants. 
 
 
 
 
100% of CAFs 
 
 

6
8



 41 

Young people have the opportunity to 
be active citizens, participate in 
community activities and shape the 
services that affect their lives so that 
values, expectations and responsibilities 
are shared and understood  
 
 
 
 

Young people are fully involved in service planning, 
development, evaluation and decision making (Aspire / Hear 
by Right Outcome/ Youth Survey) 
 
Young people demonstrate service user experience 
 
Young people are involved in volunteering opportunities 
(Aspire) 
 
Young and older people who have participated in 
intergenerational events report improved perception of young 
people issues. (Feedback survey) 
 
 
Young people can show they have contributed to or influenced 
their community reflecting the local challenges and issues 
identified. (Ask yp or providers how to measure) 
 
Celebrationary events are provided   (Aspire/Audit/Duke of 
Edinburgh Monitoring System) 
 
 
 
 
 
Access to a youth forum linked to the Youth Council is 
arranged (Aspire) 

50% of participants. 
 
 
 
4 times per year 
 
3 within each youth access point at the centre. 
 
 
80% of total attendees. 
 
 
 
 
To be negotiated  
 
 
 
1 youth arts festival  
1 Duke of Edinburgh gold award ceremony per 
year 
1 Duke of Edinburgh Bronze / Silver award 
ceremony per year 
1 Youth award presentation ceremony per year 
 
1 
 

Young people are able to enjoy their 
leisure time, using the opportunities on 
offer through open access youth 
provision and cultural, sports and other 
positive activities across the city, so that 
they are inspired and challenged  
 
 

Young people report involvement in out of school activities 
(Annual Youth Survey) 
 
Young people know where to go to find activities to do and 
how to access opportunities (Annual Youth Survey)  
 
Young people (representative of the area demographic 
including risk profile) accessing the youth sessions attend 4 

77% of survey respondents 
 
 
80% of survey respondents  
 
 
340* young people aged 13-18 years who match 
the area demographic including the risk profile 

6
9



 42 

 times or more in a year and become a participant. (Aspire) 
 
Young people (representative of the area demographic 
including risk profile) report improvement in soft skills as a 
result of the delivery of the Youth Curriculum:  

• Sex and relationship 

• Substance misuse 

• Risky and challenging behaviours 

• Raising aspirations, participation and empowerment. 

• Emotional, physical and social well being and 
independence. 

(Aspire)  
 
Young people have increased skills in arts and culture, sports 
activities.(Aspire) 
 
Young people report that they are able to challenge bullying 
and prejudice. (Aspire) 
 
Increased knowledge and skills about forming and sustaining 
safe, equal and violence-free relationships. (Aspire) 
 
Participants (representative of the area demographic including 
risk profile)  receive an accredited outcome. (Aspire) 
 
Young people report that they feel safe within the youth 
settings.(Quality Assurance Process) 
 
Positive activities are inclusive (Quality Assurance Process) 

 
 
100% of participants 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
100% of participants 
 
 
100%of participants 
 
 
100% of participants 
 
 
30% of participants 
 
 
100% quality assurance assessed. 
 
 
100% quality assurance assessed 

*Please note that the negotiation process around developing appropriate target levels for the number of young people accessing a combination of open 
access and targeted services will be based on the combined activity level of 650 (310 + 340) participants. 

 

7
0



 43 

Young People and Place Data  

City & Equalities  

 
Social Capital & Community Assets (community groups and networks, volunteering and citywide 

forums) 

• Brighton & Hove Youth Council (BHYC) 

• Children in Care Council (CICC) 

• 12 Youth Forums 

Youth Work and Youth Provision (local youth centres, facilities and meeting places) 

Universal Access Services:  

• 8 Secondary Schools  

• 6 Council sports and leisure facilities 

• 150 Take part activities 

• 200 Arts providers delivering Express Network 
 

 Open access youth work and youth provision:  

• 6 BHCC Youth Centres including Youth Arts and Duke of Edinburgh 

• 8 Community Voluntary Sector Youth Centres directly funded by BHCC 

• 6 Youth Employability Service sites 

• 3 Youth Information and Counselling (YIACS) services 
 

Targeted youth work and youth provision & Specialist:  

• Allsorts for Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual & Transgender young people 

• Positive Activity and Short Break Services for Children and Young People with Disabilities and 

Young Carers 

• Free swimming for Looked After Children and disabled young people. 

• Young Carers Project  

• Black and Minority Ethnic Young People’s Project (BMEYPP) 

• BHCC Detached Youth Project (Citywide) 

• Teen to Adult Personal Advisor (TAPA) workers operating from 3 sites 

• Targeted Teenage Pregnancy Prevention workers operating from 3 sites 

• Young Women’s Support Worker 

• Support to young parents services  

• Young People’s Domestic Violence Service Support @ Rise 

• Sexual Violence Support for Young People @ Survivors Network 

71



 44 

• Befriending scheme for disabled young people 

• Housing Support Services @ Sussex Central YMCA 

• Youth Crime Prevention workers @ Youth Offending Service 

Local challenges/Issues 

Issues identified in Brighton & Hove’s Director of Public Health Report (2010) 

• Poor results at GCSE level 

• Poor mental health, health disability and years of life lost scores 

• High proportion of divorced residents 

• High levels of domestic violence 

• High levels of substance misuse 

• Low proportion of people part of decision making groups 

• Relatively low levels of satisfaction with public services 

• Poorer overall crime, anti-social behaviour and violent crime rates and child wellbeing crime 

scores 

• Barriers to housing and services. 

• Bullying in schools related to sexual/gender identity 

• Levels of LGBT perceived safety in the city is poorer at night compared to the daytime 

• LGBT people less likely to feel that their local area is inclusive. 

• There are insufficient opportunities for carers to have time away from the caring role 

• Approximately half of Brighton & Hove’s carers feel lonely & isolated because of caring role 

• Young carers are more likely to be dealing with safety issues related to caring for someone 

with a substance misuse problem 

 

Issues identified by young people  

• Community safety: park lights, cleaner parks/public spaces  

• Community safety: policing and anti-bullying  

• Community safety: relationship with police  

• Community services: access to leisure activities (affordability & suitability) 

Community services: not enough leisure opportunities for young people with 

disabilities 

• Community cohesion: negative perception of young people  

• Community cohesion: social exclusion for young people from protected groups  

• Environment: waste collection and recycling  

• Employment: training and job opportunities  

• Employment and training: transition from education  

• Housing: waiting lists and priority housing  

• Health: mental health issues  

• Health: presentation and accessibility to information, advice and guidance  

• Education: affordability and life skills  

• Finance: affordability to  

1. Public transport 

2. Education 

3. Access to services     

Demography (Note: counts are based on 13-18 year olds unless stated otherwise) 

Number of  LSOAs in top  20% most 

deprived LSOAs in England 

 

35 

Proportion of 13-18 population living in top 

20% most deprived LSOAs 

 

25% 

72



 45 

0-24 year olds Population 86,157 

13-18 years population 17,416 

Age  

13-15 

16-18 

 

8,066 (46%)                 

9,350 (54%)     

Black & Minority Ethnic Community  2,416 (17%)                                   

Gender  

Male 

Female     

      

8,699 (50%)             

8,717 (50%) 

Faith 10,290 Christian; 870 Other faith (Buddhist, Hindu, 

Jewish; Muslim, Sikh or other); 4,700 no religion. 

Young people living in poverty  3,830 (22%) 

Young carers 189  

Young homeless people 242 (aged 16 &17 years) 

Young people experiencing Domestic 

Violence in the household 

 

3,670 

Young people with a disability 3,010 (aged 13-24 years) 

 

Young People who are Lesbian, Gay, 

Bisexual or Transgender  

2,900  

Young people in Emotional Health and 

Wellbeing service (Community CAMHS) 

1,740 

Young people with offending background 654 

Young people at risk on Aspire 

 

Young people with substance misuse issues 

Young people with offending background 

Young carers 

Young people with social care involvement 

Teenage parents and pregnant teenagers 

In the top 20% most deprived LSOAs 

Young people not in Education, Employment 

or Training (NEET) 

Total of 4,320 (31%) 

 

225 

594 

125 

398 

97 

3,481 

439 

Children identified as having an initial 

assessment (IA), Child in Need (CIN), on a 

Child Protection Plan (CPP) or Looked 

After in Care (LAC) 

 

IA 

CIN 

CPP 

LAC 

541 

 

 

 

 

32 

227  

63  

219  

Special Educational Needs Statements 557 

 

 

 

 

 

73



 46 

Appendix 4: preliminary governance framework for services for 

young people. 

 

 

Joint Commissioning Board: 

services for young people 

- Establish representation or appropriate 

feedback mechanisms 

Youth Work and Youth 

Provision Delivery 

Arrangements  

- Representative(s) from the Youth 

Council and/or local and specialist 

forums/groups. 

 

Youth Council  - Review implementation and impact of 

the Services for Young People Joint 

Commissioning Strategy 

- Contribute to/participate in Quality 

Assurance Programmes 

- Contribute to/participate in 

development of educational/advice 

programmes e.g. peer discussion about 

sexual health and substance misuse  

Neighbourhood and special 

interest Youth Forums                   

- Review current arrangements including 

representation on Youth Council, 

connection to local communities and 

capacity to engage in the development 

of participatory budgets 

 

Delivery of youth work and 

youth provision  

- Council compact, contracts and 

funding agreements specify all provision 

includes a youth steering group and/or 

similar arrangement to ensure 

participation by young people in the 

planning, delivery and evaluation of 

services 

- Development of young person led 

participatory budgets 

 

Equality Impact Assessments - Participation by young people in regular 

assessments of commissioning and 

delivery arrangements  

 

 

 

74



 47 

Appendix 5: Preliminary funding agreement timeline. 

 

 

7
5



76



CHILDREN & YOUNG 
PEOPLE’S CABINET 
MEMBER MEETING 

Agenda Item 27 
 
Brighton & Hove City Council 

 

 

Subject: Brighton & Hove City Council Agreed Syllabus of 
Religious Education 2011 - 2015 

Date of Meeting: 20 January 2012 

Report of: Strategic Director, People 

Contact Officer: Name: Michael Nix Tel: 29-0732 

 Email: michael.nix@brighton-hove.gov.uk 

Key Decision: Yes/No Forward Plan No: N/A 

Ward(s) affected: All  

 
FOR GENERAL RELEASE 
 
1. SUMMARY AND POLICY CONTEXT: 
 
1.1 Each local authority has a statutory duty to adopt an Agreed Syllabus of 

Religious Education for use by maintained schools in its area, and to arrange for 
it to be reviewed through an Agreed Syllabus Conference at least every five 
years.  The purpose of this report is to seek formal City Council approval for the 
Agreed Syllabus 2011 - 2015, which was unanimously approved by the Agreed 
Syllabus Conference which met on 1 February 2011.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
2.1 That the Cabinet Member approves the Agreed Syllabus of Religious Education 

2011 – 2015 at Appendix 1 to this report, for use in Brighton & Hove City Council 
maintained schools. 

 
3. RELEVANT BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
3.1 The previous Agreed Syllabus was adopted by the Standing Advisory Council for 

Religious Education (SACRE) in 2005 and took account of the Non-Statutory 
framework of 2004. Although the publication of the new syllabus was due in 
2010, Brighton and Hove SACRE decided to wait for the publication of proposed 
curriculum changes so that the new syllabus could take them into account. 

 
3.2 Religious Education has an important place in the curriculum in Brighton and 

Hove schools. Our society has never been so diverse, and good Religious 
Education plays an important role in helping to keep this country a tolerant and 
inclusive place in which to live, for those of all faiths or of none.  In 21st century 
Britain, it is vital that young people develop a good critical understanding of their 
own and other people's beliefs. 

 

77



 

 

3.3 This Agreed Syllabus builds on the firm foundation of the previous Agreed 
Syllabus to bring a curriculum that reflects the current focus on progression of 
both skills and content as identified in Transforming Religious Education 
(OfSTED 2010). This report emphasised the need for creative activities to 
enhance learning in RE and this Agreed Syllabus gives the structures for this to 
take place in a coherent way through effective planning and assessment. 

 
3.4 The revised Agreed Syllabus was prepared by a working party consisting of 

primary and secondary school teachers and the RE Adviser for the Diocese of 
Chichester, and advised by the Standing Advisory Council on Religious 
Education (SACRE).  It was discussed in detail and unanimously approved by an 
Agreed Syllabus Conference, drawn from the membership of SACRE, on 1 
February 2011. 

 
3.5 Presentation of the Agreed Syllabus for approval by the City Council was initially 

delayed because of the imminence of the City Council elections in May of this 
year.  Changes of personnel within the Children’s Services Department have 
unfortunately caused further delay. 

 
3.6 It is proposed to publish the Agreed Syllabus online, as a result of which 

publication costs will be minimal. 
 
4. COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND CONSULTATION 
 
4.1 The Agreed Syllabus was developed through a working party of representative 

primary and secondary school teachers, advised by the RE Adviser to SACRE 
and local authority officers.  The members of the working party drew upon their 
experience of teaching RE in the city and elsewhere, and on their contact with 
colleagues in other schools. 

 
4.2 The Agreed Syllabus Conference is made up of representatives of the local 

authority, teachers, the Church of England and other Christian denominations 
and principal religious traditions present in the city. 

 
4.3 There was no specific additional community engagement activity: the breadth of 

representation on the Agreed Syllabus Conference brought to the consideration 
of the Agreed Syllabus a wide range of community views on the matter. 

 
5. FINANCIAL & OTHER IMPLICATIONS: 
 
 Financial Implications: 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications arising from the recommendations in this 

report. 
 
 Finance Officer Consulted: Name Andy Moore Date: 24/11/11 
 
 Legal Implications: 
 
5.2 The Local Authority has a statutory duty to ensure the appropriate provision of 

religious education in maintained schools within its area (other than voluntary 
aided schools). It has complied with its duty to seek advice from SACRE. 

78



 

 

 Lawyer Consulted: Serena Kynaston Date: 10/01/2012 
 
 Equalities Implications: 
 
5.3.1 No Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out in respect of the Agreed 

Syllabus.  The law requires that Religious Education must reflect the religious 
traditions in Great Britain recognising that these traditions are “in the main 
Christian whilst taking account of the teaching and practices of the other principal 
religions represented in Great Britain.” [Education Act 1996, ch 56, section 375, 
(3)].  This requirement is reflected in the Agreed Syllabus.  Legislation allows 
parents a right of withdrawal from all or part of Religious Education, and this right 
is clearly indicated in the Agreed Syllabus. 

 
 Sustainability Implications: 
 
5.4 None. 
 
 Crime & Disorder Implications:  
 
5.5 None. 
 

 Risk and Opportunity Management Implications:  
 
5.6 None. 
 
 Public Health Implications: 
 
5.7 None 
 
 Corporate / Citywide Implications: 
 
5.8 There are no direct corporate or city wide implications.  However, a good 

understanding of the principles of the various religions practiced in the city and 
elsewhere, and the development of tolerance and respect towards those of all 
religious faiths and of none, contribute to the creation of the kind of city 
envisaged in the City Plan and the Sustainable Community Strategy. 

 
6. EVALUATION OF ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTION(S): 
 
6.1 The preparation and approval of an Agreed Syllabus of RE is a statutory duty of 

the Council.   
 
7. REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
7.1 The Council is required to have an Agreed Syllabus in place, and to keep it under 

review.  In preparing this new Agreed Syllabus, advice was taken from teachers 
and other experts in the field, ensuring that the final text conforms with legislative 
requirements and reflects the particular character of the city. The Agreed 
Syllabus was recommended for approval by the properly constituted Agreed 
Syllabus Conference at its meeting on 1 February 2011. 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

 

79



 

 

Appendices: 
 
1. Brighton & Hove Agreed Syllabus of Religious Education 2011 - 2015  
 

Documents in Members’ Rooms 
 
None. 
 
Background Documents 
 
None. 

80



 

Brighton & Hove City Council 

Religious Education 
Agreed Syllabus 

 
2011 Edition 

81



 2

 

Contents 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Foreword            3 

The Importance of Religious Education (RE)       4 

Religious Education and the Legal Framework       5 

Principles which underpin the approach to teaching RE     6 

What is to be studied in RE in Brighton and Hove?      8 

Skills in RE            9 

Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural Education (SMSC) in RE    12 

Learner attitudes           13 

Every Child Matters (ECM): RE’s contribution to ECM      15 

Social Emotional Aspects of Learning (SEAL): RE’s links to SEAL    17 

RE across the Curriculum, including Community Cohesion      18 

Inclusion: Equality of Entitlement        20 

The Structure of the new Agreed Syllabus        22 

The Six Strands           23 

Process of Planning           25 

Cross Curricular Work           27 

Transition            28 

Learning Strategies           29 

Assessment, Attainment Targets and Recording Levels.      31 

Religious Education Performance Descriptors       32 

Attainment Targets for Religious Education        35 

Religious Education in Early Years Foundation Stage      38 

KS1, KS2, KS3 content grid mapped against the strands     44 

Key Stage Four Programme of Study         47 

Religious Education 16-19         48 

List of Abbreviations and Key Terms        49 

Acknowledgements           51 

 

 

 

82



 3 

 

Foreword 
_________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

It gives us great pleasure to introduce the Brighton and Hove Agreed Syllabus for 

Religious Education 2011. The previous Agreed Syllabus was adopted by the Standing 

Advisory Council for Religious Education (SACRE) in 2005 and took account of the Non-

Statutory framework of 2004. Although the publication of the new syllabus was due in 

2010, Brighton and Hove SACRE decided to wait for the proposed curriculum changes so 

that the new syllabus could take them into account. 

 

Religious Education has an important place in the curriculum in Brighton and Hove Schools. 

Our society has never been so diverse, and good Religious Education plays an important role in 

helping to keep this country a tolerant and inclusive place in which to live. In 21st Century 

Britain, it is vital that young people develop a good understanding of their own and other 

people's beliefs.   

 

This Agreed Syllabus builds on the firm foundation of the previous Agreed Syllabus to bring a 

curriculum that reflects the current focus on progression of both skills and content as identified in 

the Transforming Religious Education (OfSTED 2010 Report). This report also emphasises the 

need for creative activities to enhance learning in RE and it is hoped that this syllabus gives the 

structures for this to take place in a coherent way through effective planning and assessment. 

Having high quality RE is a prime concern of SACRE and we trust that this Agreed Syllabus will 

continue to stimulate an exciting RE curriculum. Such a curriculum helps young people live in our 

diverse neighbourhood and explore in a constructive way the lives of others, and in so doing 

helps their own journey of self discovery.   

 

We are grateful to the Working Parties for their efforts in producing this 2011 Agreed 

Syllabus, and for bringing it fully up to date with current education practice, ensuring that it 

is directly related to Brighton and Hove. On behalf of the Council, the SACRE and the 

schools, our thanks go to them for their hard work. We believe that this new Agreed 

Syllabus has fully lived up to the high standards set by its predecessors, and we therefore 

have great pleasure in commending it to you.  

 

 

Terry Parkin           Derek Bastide  

Director of Education                            Chair of SACRE and ASC 

 

 

 
83



 4

 

The Importance of Religious Education 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Religious Education provokes challenging questions about the ultimate meaning and purpose of life, 

beliefs about God, the self and the nature of reality, issues of right and wrong and what it means to be 

human. It develops pupils’ knowledge and understanding of Christianity, other principal religions, other 

religious traditions and other world views that offer answers to questions such as these. It offers 

opportunities for personal reflection and spiritual development. It enhances pupils’ awareness and 

understanding of religions and beliefs, teachings, practices and forms of expression, as well as of the 

influence of religion on individuals, families, communities and cultures.   

Religious Education encourages pupils to learn from different religions, beliefs, values and traditions 

while exploring their own beliefs and questions of meaning. It challenges pupils to reflect on, consider, 

analyse, interpret and evaluate issues of truth, beliefs, faith and ethics and to communicate their 

responses.  

Religious Education encourages pupils to develop their sense of identity and belonging. It enables 

them to flourish individually within their communities and as citizens in a pluralistic society and global 

community. Religious Education has an important role in preparing pupils for adult life, employment and 

lifelong learning. It enables pupils to develop respect for and sensitivity to others, in particular those 

whose faiths and beliefs are different from their own. It promotes discernment and enables pupils to 

challenge prejudice.  

 

 

 
84



 5 

Religious Education and the Legal Framework 
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 

RE’s position in 
the curriculum  

RE forms part of the basic curriculum for all pupils aged 4-16 (and 16-19 in Sixth Form and Sixth Form Colleges). 
 

Agreed Syllabus  It is a statutory requirement that the Agreed Syllabus is taught to be taught in all maintained schools. 
The Local Authority (LA) has responsibility for the production, adoption, implementation and review of the Agreed Syllabus.  
The Agreed Syllabus Conference is made up of representatives of the LA, Teachers, the Church of England and other Christian 
denominations and principal religious traditions present in the area. 

SACRE  SACRE has a responsibility to monitor and review RE in the LA. 

Maintained 
schools  

RE has to be taught in accordance with the Agreed Syllabus in all maintained schools except those that have foundation or 
voluntary-aided status  

Voluntary 
Controlled (VC) 
Schools  

RE has to be taught in accordance with the LA’s Agreed Syllabus.   

Voluntary Aided 
(VA) schools  

Brighton and Hove Church of England VA schools are recommended by the Diocesan Board of Education for Chichester to 
follow the Brighton and Hove Agreed Syllabus with additional material from the National Society and the Diocesan guidance.  
Brighton and Hove Roman Catholic VA schools are required to follow the Diocesan guidelines from the Diocese of Arundel and 
Brighton.  

Academies  Academies without a religious character have to follow the Agreed Syllabus. Academies with a religious character should teach 
RE in line with the denominational syllabus. Non-denominational faith academies can take either option depending on the 
wishes of the sponsor and what is agreed by The Secretary of State for Education.   

Religions covered  RE must reflect the religious traditions in Great Britain recognising that  these traditions are “in the main Christian whilst taking 
account of the teaching and practices of the other principal religions represented in Great Britain.” [Education Act 1996, ch 56, 
section 375, (3)]  

School governors RE is the one subject in the curriculum for which school governors are responsible. Governors should receive an annual report 
about RE from their schools and ensure that they meet the statutory responsibilities in delivering the relevant Agreed Syllabus. 

RE and the right 
of withdrawal  

Legislation allows parents a right of withdrawal (For further information refer to the Non-statutory guidance for RE published 
January 2010 https://www.education.gov.uk/publications/standard/publicationdetail/page1/DCSF-00114-2010 ) from all or part of the 

Religious Education.  The parent/carer should write to the Headteacher regarding this matter. Parents should be aware that they 
are required to provide work of a religious/faith/belief based nature as a substitute for the RE work.  If RE is taught within 
another discipline e.g. during a history unit or cross-curricular unit, the parents cannot legally ask for withdrawal.   

8
5



 6

 

Principles which 

underpin the approach to 

teaching Religious Education 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

This syllabus affirms the important contribution that RE makes to the education of all pupils growing up 

in contemporary British society.  It seeks to contribute to a school curriculum which is balanced and 

broadly based (1988 Education Reform Act) and: 

a. promotes the spiritual, moral, mental, and physical development of pupils at the school and of 

society, 

 

b. prepares such pupils for the opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of adult life 

 

There are two overarching aims of the curriculum  

Aim 1: 

The school curriculum should aim to provide opportunities for all pupils to learn and to achieve 

 

Aim 2: 

The school curriculum should aim to promote pupils' spiritual, moral, social and cultural 

development and prepare all pupils for the opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of life 

 

(For further information regarding the values, purposes and aims of the curriculm see 

http://curriculum.qcda.gov.uk/key-stages-1-and-2/Values-aims-and-

purposes/index.aspx?return=/search/index.aspx%3FfldSiteSearch%3Dpurposes+of+the+curriculum) 

 

1. The aim of Religious Education 

The purpose or aims of teaching Religious Education in our community schools is to give children and 

young people opportunities to: 

a. Develop their knowledge and understanding of the nature of religious beliefs and practices and 

the importance of these in the lives of believers.  

b. Explore those aspects of human experiences which give rise to spiritual awareness and 

fundamental issues about beliefs and values 

86



 7

2. The role of Religious Education 

 

This syllabus seeks to foster the ideals in the Non-Statutory Guidance stated that all those concerned 

with Religious Education should seek to ensure that it: 

 

• develops an individual’s knowledge and understanding of the religions and beliefs which form 

part of contemporary society 

 

• provokes challenging questions about the ultimate meaning and purpose of life, beliefs about 

God, the self and the nature of reality, issues of right and wrong, and what it means to be 

human 

 

• contributes to pupils’ personal development and well-being and to community cohesion by 

promoting mutual respect and tolerance in a diverse society (page 7) 

 (January 2010, https://www.education.gov.uk/publications/standard/publicationdetail/page1/DCSF-

00114-2010 ) 

 

Religious Education also involves learning a body of knowledge. This knowledge is about the way 

people think, believe and behave. It is also concerned with learning from that knowledge. Pupils should 

be encouraged to reflect on and think about the significance of personal beliefs. They should also come 

face to face with other interpretations of human experience which are not religious.   

This syllabus gives particular attention to  

• The diversity within Brighton and Hove  

• Conceptual development 

• The acquisition of particular skills and attitudes 

 

It is not the responsibility of the community school to promote any particular religious standpoint.  

Religious Education should not seek to indoctrinate or to persuade pupils to take up any one particular 

belief. The emphasis will be on the development of skills, attitudes and concepts which enable them to 

recognise the particular importance which a belief has for the individual or group, and reflect on its 

significance or otherwise for their own developing beliefs and values.   

87



 8

What is to be studied in RE in Brighton and Hove 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
Opportunities to study Christianity, other religious traditions and non–religious world views may be included as appropriate during the course of the RE 
programmes of learning. It is possible for schools to study more religions than those specified below.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Key Stage Religions to be studied 5% of curriculum time as 
recommended 

Average Standard achieved by 
the end of the Key Stage 

Early Years Foundation 
Stage (EYFS) 

Reflective of the religions in the school 
community 

RE is taught through the relevant 
strands of the EYFS 

 

Key Stage 1 Christianity and Judaism 36 hours per year Level 2 

Key Stage 2 Christianity, Islam and Hinduism, with a 
possibility of Judaism being developed 

further 

45 hours per year Level 4 

Key Stage 3 Christianity, Buddhism and Sikhism, with 
at least one of Hinduism, Islam or Judaism 

being developed further. 

45 hours per year Level 6 

Key Stage 4 
A nationally accredited 
qualification, such as a 

GCSE short or full course 
in Religious Studies, 

should be followed. 

Students should study the number of faiths 
specified in the examination syllabus 

To study a short course GCSE: a 
minimum of 1 hour per week. 

To study a full course GCSE equal 
time to all other GCSE subjects, 

suggest 5 hours per fortnight. 

Religious Studies GCSE full or 
short course grade or Entry Level 
if more appropriate for student’s 

ability 

Key Stage 5 
 

A study of religion through a study of e.g.  
philosophy of religion, sociology of religion 

or a religious issue. 
 
 

 The course should represent   ‘A’ 
level standard reasoning and 

investigation 

8
8



 9

Skills in Religious Education 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

While it is recognised that there are no skills unique to Religious Education, there are many skills required for this subject, some of which will have greater 

emphasis and resonance than others. Some skills will apply to one Attainment Target (AT) more than to another. The skills required in the study of Religious 

Education fall into three categories: 

  

 Reflection, Imagination and Empathy 

 

Reflection: 

• ability to reflect on experience, relationships and feelings 

• ability to reflect on ultimate questions, beliefs, values and 
symbolic representation of meaning. 

 

Empathy: 

• Consider the thoughts, feelings, experiences, attitudes and 
beliefs of others 

• Develop the power of imagination to identify feelings of love, 
wonder, forgiveness, sorrow etc 

• Ability to see the world through the eyes of others and appreciate 
their point of view. 

 

Creativity of thought and expression: 

• Think creatively, exploring a wide range of ideas and hypotheses 

• Express a diversity of religious thought and feelings in a variety 
of forms. 

 

8
9



 10

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Acquisition of knowledge  

 

Research: 

●     understand and draw information from a variety of resources ●     record and present information in a variety of forms 

Observation: 

●     identify key questions and significant information  ●     describe what is observed with awareness of bias or presupposition. 

Listening and reading: 

●     identify key points from reading and listening   ●     ask significant questions from reading and listening 

●     relate information gained from reading and listening to                   
previously held knowledge. 

Enquiry and Investigation: 

●     ask relevant questions      ●     ask questions about personal beliefs and identity in light of new        
                                 knowledge 

●     recognise how to take the next step needed to build  ●     know how to use different types of sources as a way of gathering 
knowledge and understanding             information 

Expression: 

●     ability to retell stories/events with a meaning   ●     ability to explain concepts, rituals and practices  

9
0



 11

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Academic Skills 

 

Interpretation: 

●     draw meaning from, for example, artefacts, writings  ●     interpret religious language 

●     suggest meanings of texts 

Analysis: 

●     distinguish between opinion, belief and fact    ●     distinguish between features of different religions 

●     distinguish between ‘strong’ and ‘weak’ arguments  

Communication: 

●     identify and relate relevant information in an accessible way ●     ability to explain concepts, rituals and practices   

Evaluation: 

●     reach reasoned judgements based on evidence and argument ●     consider thoughtfully different points of view 

Synthesis: 

●     link significant features of religion together in coherent ways ●     try to connect different aspects of life into a meaningful whole 

Application: 

●     make the association between religions and individual  ●     identify key religious values and their interplay with secular ones     
community, national and international life 

●     identify key religious values and their interplay with secular ones  

9
1



 12

 

Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural 

Education (SMSC) in RE 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural Education is a cross-curricular theme which should 
underpin all subjects.  RE has a particularly important role in pupils’ personal development.  
The table below indicates some of the ways in which RE can contribute: 
 

Spiritual  

Knowledge and insight into 
beliefs, values and principles 
and ability to reflect on 
aspects of their own lives 
 

■ discussing and reflecting on 
key questions of meaning 
and truth such as the 
origins of the universe, life 
after death, good and evil, 
beliefs about God and 
values such as justice, 
honesty and truth  

■ learning about and 
reflecting on important 
concepts, experiences and 
beliefs that are at the heart 
of religious and other 
traditions and practices 

■ considering how beliefs and 
concepts in religion may be 
expressed through the 
creative and expressive arts 
and related to the human 
and natural sciences, 
thereby contributing to 
personal and communal 
identity 

■ considering how religions 
and other world views 
perceive the value of 
human beings, and their 
relationships with one 
another, with the natural 
world, and with God 

■ valuing relationships and 
developing a sense of 
belonging 

■ developing their own views 
and ideas on religious and 
spiritual issues 

Moral 

Consider, respond and make 
reasoned and informed 
choices relating to areas of 
right and wrong, moral 
conflict, concern for others, 
and the will to do what is right.  
This would mean application 
of ethical theories to situations 
for higher level learners. 
 

■ enhancing the values 
identified within the National 
Curriculum, particularly 
valuing diversity and engaging 
in issues of truth, justice and 
trust 
■ exploring the influence of 
family, friends and media on 
moral choices and how 
society is influenced by 
beliefs, teachings, sacred 
texts and guidance from 
religious leaders 
■ considering what is of 
ultimate value to pupils and 
believers through studying the 
key beliefs and teachings from 
religion and philosophy about 
values and ethical codes of 
practice 
■ studying a range of ethical 
issues, including those that 
focus on justice, to promote 
racial and religious respect 
and personal integrity 
■ considering the importance 
of rights and responsibilities  
and developing a sense of 
conscience 

 

Social 

Develop a sense of identity and 
belonging and preparing them for 
adult life in a plural society. 
 

■ considering how religious and 
other beliefs lead to particular 
actions and concerns 
■ investigating social issues from 
religious perspectives, recognising 
the diversity of viewpoints within 
and between religions as well as 
the common ground between 
religions 
■ articulating pupils’ own and 
others’ ideas on a range of 
contemporary social issues 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Cultural 

Awareness and understanding of 
beliefs, practices, lifestyles and 
values in their own multicultural 
society and in the wider world 
 

■ encountering people, literature, 
the creative and expressive arts 
and resources from differing 
cultures 
■ considering the relationship 
between religion and cultures and 
how religions and beliefs contribute 
to cultural identity and practices 
■ promoting racial and interfaith 

harmony and respect for all, 

combating prejudice and 

discrimination, contributing 

positively to community cohesion 

and promoting awareness of how 

interfaith cooperation can support 

the pursuit of the common good. 

92



 13

Learner Attitudes in Religious Education 
___________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

The non-statutory National Framework for RE defines four attitudes as being essential for good learning in Religious Education. 

 

Attitude  Description of attitude Curriculum links  

Appreciation 

and wonder 

Developing their imagination and curiosity 

Recognising that knowledge is bounded by mystery  

Appreciating the sense of wonder in the world in which they live  

Developing their capacity to respond to questions of meaning and purpose 

Spiritual and moral development  

Learning outside the classroom  

Creative expression  

Open-

mindedness  

Being willing to learn and gain new understanding  

Engaging in argument or disagreeing reasonably and respectfully about religious, 

moral and spiritual questions  

Being willing to go beyond the surface of complex issues and search for 

increasingly profound insight  

Distinguishing between opinions, viewpoints and beliefs in connection with issues of 

conviction and faith  

Being involved through open minded questioning 

Social Emotional Aspects of 

Learning  

 

Community-cohesion  

Class charter  

 

 

 

9
3



 14

 

Attitude  Description of attitude Curriculum links  

Self-awareness  Feeling confident about their own beliefs and identity and sharing them without fear 

of embarrassment or ridicule 

Developing a realistic and positive sense of their own religious, moral and spiritual 

ideas whether or not they are religious 

Recognising their own uniqueness as human beings and affirming their self-worth  

Becoming increasingly sensitive to the impact of their ideas and behaviour on other 

people   

NB: ‘Self-awareness’ and ‘Respect 

for All’ contribute to the SEAL 

agenda, particularly in relation to: 

• Good to be me 

• Relationships 

• GoFo – Getting on, Falling 

out  

• Say no to bullying  

Respect for all  Developing skills of listening and a willingness to learn from others, even when 

others’ views are different from their own 

Being ready to value difference and diversity for the common good  

Appreciating that some beliefs are not inclusive and considering the issues that this 

raises for individual and society  

Being prepared to recognise and acknowledge their own bias 

Being sensitive to the feelings and ideas of others  

SEAL 

Moral development 

Values/Golden rules/behaviour 

policy/class charter  

Visiting speakers  

Community cohesion 

 

 

 

 

9
4



 15

Contribution of Every Child Matters to RE 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

The following table explores some of the ways that RE contributes to Every Child Matters.  RE encourages pupils to... 
 

Be Healthy through: Stay Safe through:  Enjoy and Achieve 
through: 

Make a Positive 
Contribution through:  

Achieve Economic Wellbeing 
through:  

Being emotionally literate  Understanding who it is 
safe to be influenced by or 
follow 

Being ready to learn, active 
in and excited by their 
learning 

Respecting other faiths and 
beliefs and those who live by 
them 

Be able to engage in sustained, 
imaginative, reflective 
processes 

Consideration of attitudes to 
sexual relationships that 
promote the wellbeing of all  

Opportunities to explore 
prejudice and discrimination 
including teachings from 
faiths 

Setting clear and challenging 
standards and assessment 
criteria which enable all 
children to achieve 
appropriately  

Being active citizens who are 
locally and globally aware, 
equipped to explore 
concepts of identity, 
community and belonging in 
religions and develop 
positive views of their own 

Giving opportunities to consider 
and sometimes challenge the 
meaning of ‘economic well-
being’ through studying the 
responses of faith to money, 
wealth, generosity and 
responsibility  

Investigating healthy living 
through religious teachings 
about food and drink 

Developing their self 
esteem 

Being reflective participants 
in their learning. Developing 
a range of skills to support 
thinking for learning 

Being emotionally literate 
and have high self-esteem 

Exploring religious critiques of 
consumerism, materialism and 
trade 

Valuing and respecting all 
life and the religious beliefs 
about creation and the 
environment 

Developing independence 
of thought, and the ability to 
express ideas appropriately 

A rigorous, challenging, good 
quality curriculum that 
enables pupils to learn about 
themselves and others 
through exploring religion 
and the big questions of life  

Encouraging pupils to 
evaluate the influence of 
religious rules and codes for 
living and the meaning of 
being ‘law abiding’ 

Develop transferable skills for 
future employment, including: 
positive attitudes, high level 
communication and information 
management, critical thinking 
and choice making  

Encouraging a positive self-
image by enabling personal 
reflection and exploring 
ideas about self from 
different religious traditions 

Encouraging individuals to 
be increasingly able to take 
responsibility for their 
behaviour and discover/ 
explore who and what they 
are 

Being outward looking and 
willing to learn and be 
inspired from those around 
them.  

Being outward looking, with 
strong positive values, 
developing empathy, a social 
conscience, and being 
responsive to the needs of 
others 

Being active participants in 
their learning and encouraged 
to continue to explore religious 
and spiritual issues that lead to 
lifelong learning 

9
5



 16

 

 

Acknowledgement:  With thanks to Lancashire SACRE for the ideas in this chart.  

 

 

 

 

 

Be Healthy through: Stay Safe through: Enjoy and Achieve 
through: 

Make a Positive 
Contribution through: 

Achieve Economic Wellbeing 
through: 

Developing a healthy mind 
through understanding such 
activities as prayer, 
meditation, stilling, 
reflection and reasoned 
debate 

Consideration of rules and 
principles that guide 
individuals within 
communities and keep 
people safe 

Expressing their viewpoints 
respectfully and working with 
a range of other people 
including encountering living 
faiths (e.g. visitors and visits) 
and having opportunities to 
ask and develop answers to 
their questions of meaning 
and purpose 

Giving opportunities to 
consider the nature of ‘being 
human’ and the positive 
common bond found in 
shared human experience 

Interpreting the principles of 
sustainability: reduce, reuse, 
recycle through different 
religious perspectives 

Developing the skills and 
understanding to make 
informed choices about 
faith/belief and moral and 
ethical decisions 

 Using their initiative and 
creativity in a variety of 
contexts provided in a 
creative and inclusive RE 
curriculum 

Developing high level 
communication skills and 
expressing views confidently 
on the wide range of 
questions that RE addresses 

A curriculum that offers all 
learners at KS4 (and KS5) the 
opportunity to achieve a 
nationally recognised and 
accredited qualification 

The idea in this example is that 

people who are different can share 

the world and live together. RE is 

meant to help people to respect each 

other. 

9
6



 17

Social and Emotional Aspects of Learning (SEAL) and 

links with Religious Education 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Social and emotional aspects of learning (SEAL) are promoted to develop the social and emotional skills of all pupils.  Good social and 
emotional skills help pupils to make friendships, work in teams, solve problems, deal with conflict, manage strong feelings, to be calmer and 
optimistic, recover from setbacks, compete fairly, and respect others' rights and value diversity.  The table below reflects the five groupings 
of skills and some illustrative links with RE.  

 

Five groupings  Illustrative links with RE  

Self-awareness How religion has impacted on and influenced societies 

How religion has been instrumental in the creation of social values 

Managing feelings How to manage the responses/attitudes of reconciliation, atonement, forgiveness, 
prejudice, the Sikh concept of sewa (service) and the Muslim concept of umma 
(community) 

Empathy How emotional factors have been part of the lives of religious figures 

Motivation  For social action, charity participation and community service 

Social skills  the need to work cooperatively to common purpose, arrive at agreed consensus and 
challenge injustice 

 

 

For further information:  

http://www.re-handbook.org.uk/section/curriculum/spiritual-moral-social-and-cultural-development-and-religious-education/religious-education-and-
social-and-emotional-aspects-of-learning-seal 

 

9
7



 18

 

Religious Education across the 

Curriculum 
_____________________________________________________________________________________

 

Promoting Citizenship through Religious Education 

RE plays a significant role in promoting citizenship through: 

• developing pupils’ knowledge and understanding about the diversity of national, regional, 

religious and ethnic identities in the United Kingdom and the need for mutual respect and 

understanding  

• enabling pupils to think about topical spiritual, moral, social and cultural issues including the 

importance of resolving conflict fairly 

• exploring the rights, responsibilities and duties of citizens locally, nationally and globally  

• enabling pupils to justify and defend orally, and in writing, personal opinions about issues, 

problems and events  

• enabling pupils to understand the impact of beliefs and values on the way in which individuals, 

groups and societies behave, develop priorities and organise themselves  

 

Promoting Personal, Social, Health and Economic Education through Religious 

Education 

RE plays a significant role in promoting Personal, Social, Health and Economic Education through: 

• Developing confidence and responsibility and making the most of their abilities by learning 

about what is fair and unfair, right and wrong and being encouraged to share their opinions 

• Developing a healthy, safer lifestyle by learning about religious beliefs and teachings on drug 

use and misuse, food and drink, leisure, relationships and human sexuality, learning about the 

purpose and value of religious beliefs and sensitivities in relation to sex education and 

enabling pupils to consider and express their own views  

• Developing good relationships and respecting the differences between people by learning 

about the diversity of different ethnic and religious groups and the destructive power of 

prejudice, challenging racism, discrimination, offending behaviour and bullying, being able to 

talk about relationships and feelings, considering issues of marriage and family life and 

meeting and encountering people whose beliefs, views and lifestyles are different from their 

own 

• Developing an understanding of the impact of economics on the choices people make, 

learning about the religious beliefs and teachings on money, wealth and poverty and 

considering how money/employment can be used either constructively or destructively 

 

98



 19

Promoting Community Cohesion through Religious Education  

 

RE plays a significant role in promoting Community Cohesion through: 

• encouraging the idea of shared values and the importance of dialogue within and between 

religions and other traditions 

• counteracting stereotypical assumptions about  people’s religion based on lack of 

understanding 

 

Promoting Community Cohesion stands alongside the Human Rights Act, the Race Relations Act and 
the Equality Act in seeking to promote fair treatment and to counteract all negative stereotyping. RE 
has an important role to play in promoting Community Cohesion; however, it has many equally 
important contributions to make to a child’s learning. Likewise, Community Cohesion should stretch 
out across the whole school and not solely rely on RE to encapsulate the entire message. The 
teaching of the principal world religions and beliefs contributes to promoting community cohesion and 
raising awareness of areas of commonality and understanding. 

 
The table below reflects the four different communities and some suggested ways that RE could 
contribute to learning in each of these areas: 

 

Four types of 
community 

Illustrative links with RE  

School Community  A planned focus on pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural development. 
The skills and attitudes that promote those areas of pupils’ development - 
open-mindedness, empathy, respect, enquiry etc – also promote community 
cohesion 

How people express themselves through ritual 

Local Community Including its history, demographics, religiously-based community action and 
contributions by individual people of faith 

Ethnographic (participant observation, interviewing and research) study of 
religion in the community 

National Community  Interfaith and intercultural dialogue can be promoted through RE by 
virtual/email dialogue  

Breaking down of stereotypes, considering internal diversity within faiths 

International 
Community  

Critical engagement with media representation of religiously-focused stories 

Exploring how religions identify beyond national boundaries 

 

For further information: http://www.re-handbook.org.uk/section/curriculum/community-cohesion-and-
religious-education  

 

 

 

99



 20

 

Promoting Skills Through Religious 

Education 
_____________________________________________________________________________________

 

These skills can be broken down into a number of sub-headings: 

 

Functional Skills 

All students are expected to have achieved level 2 English, Mathematics and ICT by the end of KS4. 

Tasks reflecting the appropriate level skill should be included in the units of work.   

 

Personal Learning and Thinking Skills (PLTS) 

PLTS are seen as being essential for success in learning, life and work. They are ‘independent 

enquirers, creative thinkers, reflective learners, team workers, self managers and effective 

participators.’ Young people are likely to encounter skills from several groups in any one learning 

experience, in order to apply the skills it is important for them to experience them in a wide range of 

contexts. 

 

RE deals with open questions and a range of perspectives. RE encourages students to ask ‘big 

questions’ for themselves. Philosophy for Children (P4C) is an example of a strategy that can develop 

Thinking Skills. 

 

               

In the jigsaw,  

each religion is distinct 

but all are connected. 

No person is an island 

all are individual, 

all are linked. 

100



 21

Inclusion: Equality of Entitlement 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Effective inclusion means teaching a stimulating, flexible and imaginative RE curriculum that gives opportunities for inspiration and challenge, and 
meets all pupils’ learning needs including: 
 

● those with learning and behavioural difficulties         ● traveller children, looked after children  

• those who are gifted and talented           ● children from all socio-economic backgrounds 

• gender               ● children who have recently arrived in this country 

• those who have additional physical needs           ● those for whom English is an additional language  

• those with other additional needs           ● children from all faith/belief/cultural backgrounds 

 
 
Learning should build on and be enriched by the different experiences brought to the subject by the pupils themselves. Effective inclusion should be 
based on setting suitable learning challenges, responding to pupils’ diverse needs and overcoming potential barriers. It should enable all pupils to 
fulfil their potential through incorporating a wide range of teaching and learning styles. Whatever the needs are of the pupils it is important to 
remember that the activities, resources and areas of study are age appropriate as well as being differentiated according to ability. It should be 
recognised that learners may have more than one additional requirement that needs to be addressed.   
 
For pupils with learning difficulties and special needs, RE teaching may focus on communication, relationships and a sensory experience of the 
world which provide access to RE. It is important that these pupils have the opportunity to explore experiences and find meaning in their own way. 
Concrete, personal and immediate experiences will often be the most helpful starting point for such learners thus making Religious Education 
relevant and meaningful and helping in the teaching of RE. As with all learning it is important that the work always aims to be demanding and give 
opportunities for progression, especially in skills of observation, enquiry, reflection and evaluation. Performance Descriptors (P Levels) are included 
in this document to assist with assessment and progression. Opportunities for differentiation should be carefully planned to allow all pupils to access 
the RE curriculum. Staff in special schools should provide RE for all pupils and use the Agreed Syllabus as the basis for their planning as far as 
possible. Further information can be found at: http://orderline.qcda.gov.uk/gempdf/1849624011/qcda-11-

4841_Using_the_p_scales_to_assess_pupils_progress.pdf  

 
For the most able pupils RE provides opportunities to develop and apply knowledge, understanding, skills and processes for example critical 
thinking, interpretation, insight, reflection, synthesis. They have the chance to demonstrate high levels of understanding, insight, discernment and 
mature reflective thinking. The most able will explore philosophical approaches, develop thinking skills for example argument, reasoning and logical 
analysis and engage with story, symbol, metaphor, allegory and its approach to making meaning. 
 
 
 

1
0
1



 22

 

The Structure of the New Agreed Syllabus 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

  Overview of the Attainment Targets (AT) 

 

    

1
0
2



 23

The Six Strands for RE 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

There are a number of key strands that underpin the study of RE. Pupils need to understand these in order to deepen and broaden their knowledge, skills 

and understanding. The first three categories broadly relate to AT1 and the second group of three relate to AT2. The key questions in italics represent 

possible primary key questions and the key questions in not in italics are aimed at secondary pupils. It is recommended that when planning a unit of work, 

one strand from AT1 and one strand from AT2 should be used as a starting point. 

 

STRANDS Definition  Aspects for investigation Key question for RE:  

 

ATTAINMENT TARGET 1 

BELIEFS, 

TEACHINGS 

AND SOURCES 

 

 

Interpreting teachings, sources, authorities and ways of 

life in order to understand religions and beliefs 

 

Understanding and responding critically to beliefs and 

attitudes 

 

Could focus on God, gods, gurus, 

teachers, enlightenment, truth, 

prophecy, soul and life after death 

How do people develop their beliefs 

and understanding? 

 

How do religions and philosophies 

understand and develop beliefs and 

teachings within their traditions? 

PRACTICES 

AND WAYS OF 

LIFE 

 

Exploring the impact of religions and beliefs on how 

people live their lives 

 

Understanding and responding critically to beliefs and 

attitudes 

 

Could focus on worship, prayer, 

meditation, celebration and pilgrimage, 

as well as the religious artefacts, holy 

times, fasts and festivals 

How do people worship?  

 

How do people keep in touch with 

their faith/philosophy? 

EXPRESSING 

MEANING 

Appreciating that individuals and cultures express their 

beliefs and values in different ways 

 

Exploring how prophets, artists, poets, writers, architects, 

theologians, composers, performers and story-tellers have 

attempted to express their beliefs and values 

Could focus on religious music, pictures, 

symbols, metaphors, poetry, parables, 

stories, myths, comedy, sculpture, 

carving, dance, drama, buildings, creeds, 

prayers, ritual writing, rituals, calligraphy, 

attitudes, behaviour and lifestyles. 

  

How do people share their religious 

beliefs and values with others? 

 

How do people communicate their 

beliefs and values to others? 

 

A

T

T

A

I

N

M

E

N

T

 

T

A

R

G

E

T 

1

  

1
0
3



 24

ATTAINMENT TARGET 2 

STRANDS Definition  Aspects for investigation Key question for RE:  

IDENTITY, 

DIVERSITY AND 

BELONGING 

 

Understanding how individuals develop a sense of 

identity and belonging through faith or belief 

 

Exploring the variety, difference and relationships that 

exist within and between religions, values and beliefs 

 

Relationships, experiences, community, 

individuality, personality, feelings, preferences, 

dialogue between faiths and philosophies 

What makes us belong? 

 

What does it mean to be a human 

being?  

 

MEANING, 

PURPOSE AND 

TRUTH 

 

Exploring some of the ultimate questions that confront 

humanity, and responding imaginatively to them 

 

Exploring the ups, downs and meaning(s) of life’s 

journey 

 

Religious and non-religious views about life’s 

wonders and sadnesses, its triumphs and 

tribulations, the place and role of human beings 

within the natural world and on the search for 

meaning, purpose and truth in philosophy, religion 

and science 

How we answer life’s big 

questions? 

 

What is the meaning of life?  

 

VALUES AND 

COMMITMENTS  

 

Understanding how moral values and a sense of 

obligation can come from beliefs and experience 

 

Evaluating their own and others’ values in order to 

make informed, rational and imaginative choices 

  

Religious and non-religious influences on values, 

commitments, laws, attitudes, behaviour, and 

moral guidelines, and study of the sources of moral 

authority which might guide decision making 

How could other people’s religious 

values influence my life? 

 

How should I live my life?  

 

                                                             

 

A

T

T

A

I

N

M

E

N

T

 

T

A

R

G

E

T 

2 

1
0
4



 25

Process of Planning Schemes of 
Work 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

STRANDS 

Choose two – one from AT1 and one from AT2 

 

 

 

 

 

Key question for unit focus 

 

This could apply to all human experience; religious and non-religious. 

 

This could be relevant to some or most religions and belief traditions. 

 

This could be particular to one religion or belief tradition. 

 
AT 1 
 

   
AT 2 

 
Learning about religion and belief 

 

 
Learning from religion and beliefs 

A. Beliefs, teachings and sources 
 

D. Identity, diversity and belonging 

B. Practices and ways of life 
 

E. Meaning, purpose and truth 

C. Expressing meaning 
 

F. Values and commitments 

105



 26

 

Key Skills 

 

Level Descriptors 
 

 

Breadth and Depth Of 
Learning 

 

 

• Identify the appropriate level skills 
that are to the focus for 
development in that unit 

• Use skills words highlighted in bold 
on the attainment target grids and 
skills tables to help 

• Other skills should not be ignored 
completely 

 

 

The level descriptors should be used to 
inform planning considering: 

• the age/ability of the pupils 

• the skills focus 

• progression of content, 
understanding, skills and 
assessment opportunities  

 

Refer to the religion and belief traditions 
as set out on the page ‘What is to be 
Studied?’ 
 
It is good practice to refer pupils’ to the 
range of religion and belief traditions 
represented in your school and local 
community as reflected in the Agreed 
Syllabus 
 

 

Some questions to consider when planning units/work: 
 

• What are the objectives for this work? Which two strands (one from Attainment Target One and one from Attainment Target 
Two) and which skills will be developed? 

• How does this build on previous learning and prepare pupils for future learning? 

• Is the development within this unit/scheme clear? 

• Are there opportunities for helpful links with other areas of the curriculum? 

• Are there opportunities for promoting pupils’ spiritual, moral, social and cultural development highlighted?   

• What teachings styles and activities are being employed to stimulate pupils to question, be reflective, apply their learning to 
life and to cater for different learning styles and needs?  

• Do the learning experiences match the objectives? 

• What are the intended outcomes? How will pupils demonstrate that the learning objectives have been achieved?  

• How will the scheme of work/unit be evaluated in order to make further improvements?   
 
 

Sample long term plans, medium term plans and assessments can be found at (this is being developed onto the new 
WAVE and will be added when this has taken place)  

1
0
6



 27

 

Cross Curricular Units 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Many schools teach Religious Education through links with other                  

subjects. If this approach is taken then it is important that the integrity                  

of each of the subjects being linked is maintained by ensuring that the                  

learning outcomes are appropriate to all the subjects. In planning            

cross-curricular work the following questions need to be considered: 

What is the key question?         

What are the learning objectives?       

How will the learning outcomes be measured? 

What resources are required to support the work? 

What staff/other people will be involved? 

Which subjects are linking together?  

How will skills progression in each subject be achieved?    

When will the learning be delivered? 

Where will the learning take place? 

How will the learning be evaluated and impact measured?

This lovely image of a sunset 

was collaged by a 7 year old. He 

says it is his idea of peace. Does 

RE help people to find peace 

and live in peace together?

 

1
0
7



 28

Transition 
______________________________________________________________________________________

 

 

One of the focus areas in the recent Primary and Secondary Curriculums is Transition (between 

EYFS to KS1, KS1 to KS2, KS2 to KS3, KS3 to KS4 and KS4 to KS5). These changes from one 

key stage to another, even if they occur within the same school setting can prove difficult for 

learners. In order to smooth the transition from one key stage to another it is important for 

teachers to consider prior and forthcoming learning opportunities, the content covered and 

essentially the skills that learners will have developed and will need to develop further. Transition 

would be greatly assisted if the teachers from the year groups associated with transition were in 

communication with each other so that repetition was avoided.   

 

     

 

 

 

108



 29

Learning Strategies 
______________________________________________________________________________________

 

 

Experiences and opportunities to be included in teaching in Early Years 
Foundation Stage: 
 

• Visual/spatial expression shown in art and other creative activities  

• Auditory experiences listening to music, stories and rhymes 

• Kinaesthetic activities such as movement, games and handling a range of resources  

• Verbal/linguistic communication in a range of speaking and listening activities  

• Mathematical experiences by making simple models and patterns 

• Music and songs from different cultures 

• Naturalistic engagement with living things and the environment  

• Interpersonal skills offering co-operative opportunities  
 
 

Experiences and opportunities to be included in the teaching of Key Stage 1: 
 

• Encountering religion through visiting places of worship and focusing on symbols and feelings  

• Ask questions of, listen to and respond to visitors from local faith communities  

• Using their senses and having times of quiet reflection 

• Using art and design, music, dance and drama to develop their creative talents and imagination 

• Sharing their own beliefs, ideas and values and talking about their feelings and experiences  

• Beginning to use ICT to explore religions and beliefs as practised in the local and wider 
community.  (quoted from NSNF) 

• Identify questions about the world and space they would like to answer.  

• Are enabled to notice some key ideas in the celebration of festivals and to learn the ways these 
ideas can make sense of festivals studied.  

• Listen to stories from scriptures and sacred texts and talk about what the stories mean.  

• Take turns to speak and listen when talking about RE topics.  

• Learn from religious artefacts, works of art and stories, using both spiritual and literacy methods 
to develop understanding.   

 
 

Experiences and opportunities to be included in the teaching of Key Stage 2: 
 

• Encountering religion through visitors and visits to places of worship, and focusing on the 
impact and reality of religion on the local and global community 

• Discussing religious and philosophical questions, giving reasons for their own beliefs and those 
of others 

• Considering a range of human experiences and feelings  

• Reflecting on their own and others’ insights into life and its origin, purpose and meaning   

• Expressing and communicating their own and others’ insights through art and design, music, 
dance, drama and ICT  

• Developing the use of ICT, particularly in enhancing pupils’ awareness of religions and beliefs 
globally (quoted from NSNF)  

• Consider questions that are mysterious and puzzling and think of alternative answers.  
 
 
 
 

109



 30

 
Experiences and opportunities to be included in the teaching of Key Stage 3:  
 

• Encountering religions authentically by, where possible, meeting people from different 
religious, cultural and philosophical groups, who can express a range of convictions on 
religious and ethical issues  

• Encountering religion through visiting, where possible, places of major religious 
significance and using opportunities in ICT to enhance pupil’s understanding of religion 

• Discussing, questioning and evaluating important issues in religion and philosophy, 
including ultimate questions and ethical issues taking an active part in group discussions 
and activities that rely on shared viewpoints 

• Reflecting on and carefully beginning evaluating their own beliefs and values and those of 
others in response to their learning in Religious Education, using reasoned, balanced 
arguments 

• Using a range of forms of expression (such as art and design, music, dance, drama, 
writing, ICT) to communicate their ideas and responses creatively and thoughtfully.  This 
could also include literary forms found in religion such as creeds, Psalms or moral precepts 
to develop their own ability to express beliefs and values in speaking and writing.  

• Exploring connections between Religious Education and other subject areas such as arts, 
humanities, literature, science (quoted from NSNF) 

• Use strategies such as ‘mysteries’, ‘mental maps; and ‘human graphs’ to explore a range of 
opinions of religious and spiritual issues for themselves, and develop their own views. 

 
 

Experiences and opportunities to be included in the teaching of Key Stage 4:  
 

• Work with ambiguous evidence and examples to analyse ultimate questions and religious 
and moral responses to them 

• Use tools of literary criticism to analyse accounts and express their own spiritual insights 
clearly and thoughtfully.  

• Use a range of discussion skills to clarify, deepen and explore varied perspectives on 
issues  

• Use creative skills to express responses to issues  

• Make detailed comparisons referring to resources from several media and reflecting 
different communities/religions 

 

 

Experiences and opportunities to be included in the teaching of Key Stage 5 - see Methods of 
delivery, Page 49.

 

110



 31

Assessment, Attainment Targets and Recording Levels 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Assessment should be an integral part of good planning and be formed of meaningful tasks demonstrating progression in AT1 and AT2.  To ensure 
progression it is vital that records are kept of any assessment undertaken, information which can then be used to inform the pupils’ annual reports 
which should include a report on RE. 

 

Attainment targets: 

1. Can be used to inform a teachers’ planning to ensure that 

lessons are at an appropriate level  

2. Can be used to inform the setting of objectives, particularly if the 

‘I can’ version of the attainment targets is used (Hyperlink).   

3. Can be used to describe the pupil’s performance over time as a 

‘best fit match’ 

4. Can be used to help the pupils’ to understand what they need to 

do in order to improve, particularly in terms of the development 

of skills  

Assessment should:  

1. Demonstrate progression 

2. Assist the pupil in learning and raise achievement  

3. Assist the teacher in curriculum evaluation and planning 

4. Provide information for pupils, teachers, governors, examination 

boards, employers, the Authority and the Government 

5. Include both formative and summative assessment  

6. Include opportunities for AfL (including peer and self assessment) 

and APP (if appropriate) 

Teachers’ records should: 

1. Record progress and attainment, using the 8 level scale in RE 

(see page 35) 

2. Be manageable  

3. Give evidence for teachers to use in completing the annual 

report to parents  

4. Demonstrate progression from one term/year to the next and be 

passed on to the next class teacher  

Assessment relating to different phases: 

1. In Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) observations are used to 

make assessments of the whole child, this is summed up a the end 

of EYFS 

2. In Key Stages 1, 2 and 3 it is recommended that year end 

assessments are made and transferred as appropriate 

3. In Key Stage 4 a national qualification must be used to assess 

attainment in RE 

1
1
1



 32

Religious Education: Performance Descriptors 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Some pupils will be working below level 1. These P-levels (P1 to P8) may be helpful to track progress and ensure progression.   

The performance descriptions for P1 to P3 are common across all subjects and are illustrated here by some subject specific examples from the DFE 
website shown in italics. Level P4 to P8, indicates the emergence of skills, knowledge and understanding in RE. Words in bold reflect the skills being 
developed. 

 
 

QCDA ‘P’ Levels for Religious Education  
  

P1 (i) • encounter activities and experiences.  

• may be passive or resistant.  

• may show simple reflex responses, for example, startling at sudden noises or movements.  

• any participation is fully prompted. 

P1 (ii) • show emerging awareness of activities and experiences.  

• may have periods when they appear alert and ready to focus their attention on certain people, events, objects or parts of objects, for 
example, becoming still in response to silence.  

• may give intermittent reactions, for example, vocalising occasionally during group celebrations and acts of worship. 

P2 (i) • begin to respond consistently to familiar people, events and objects.  

• react to new activities and experiences, for example, briefly looking around in unfamiliar natural and man-made environments.  

• begin to show interest in people, events and objects, for example, leaning towards the source of a light, sound or scent.  

• accept and engage in coactive exploration, for example, touching a range of religious artefacts and found objects in partnership with a 
member of staff. 

P2 (ii) • begin to be proactive in their interactions.  

• communicate consistent preferences and affective responses, for example, showing that they have enjoyed an experience or interaction.  

• recognise familiar people, events and objects, for example, becoming quiet and attentive during a certain piece of music. 

• perform actions, often by trial and improvement, and they remember learned responses over short periods of time, for example, repeating a 
simple action with an artefact.  

• cooperate with shared exploration and supported participation, for example, performing gestures during ritual exchanges with another 
person performing gestures. 

1
1
2



 33

P3(i) • begin to communicate intentionally.  

• seek attention through eye contact, gesture or action.  

• request events or activities, for example, prompting a visitor to prolong an interaction.  

• participate in shared activities with less support.  

• sustain concentration for short periods.  

• explore materials in increasingly complex ways, for example, stroking or shaking artefacts or found objects.  

• observe the results of their own actions with interest, for example, when vocalising in a quiet place.  

• remember learned responses over more extended periods, for example, following a familiar ritual and responding appropriately. 

P3 (ii) • use emerging conventional communication.  

• greet known people and may initiate interactions and activities, for example, prompting an adult to sing or play a favourite song.  

• can remember learned responses over increasing periods of time and may anticipate known events, for example, celebrating the 
achievements of their peers in assembly.  

• may respond to options and choices with actions or gestures, for example, choosing to participate in activities.  

• actively explore objects and events for more extended periods, for example, contemplating the flickering of a candle flame. 

• apply potential solutions systematically to problems, for example, passing an artefact to a peer in order to prompt participation in a group 
activity. 

P4  • use single elements of communication, for example, words, gestures, signs or symbols, to express their feelings.  

• show they understand 'yes' and 'no'.  

• begin to respond to the feelings of others, for example, matching their emotions and laughing when another pupil is laughing.  

• join in with activities by initiating ritual actions or sounds.  

• may demonstrate an appreciation of stillness and quietness. 

P5 • respond appropriately to simple questions about familiar religious events or experiences and communicate simple meanings 

• respond to a variety of new religious experiences, for example, involving music, drama, colour, lights, food, or tactile objects.  

• take part in activities involving two or three other learners.  

• may also engage in moments of individual reflection. 
 

P6 • express and communicate their feelings in different ways.  

• respond to others in group situations and cooperate when working in small groups.  

• listen to, and begin to respond to familiar religious stories, poems and music, and make their own contribution to celebrations and festivals.  

• carry out ritualised actions in familiar circumstances.  

• show concern and sympathy for others in distress, for example, through gestures, facial expressions or by offering comfort. 

• start to be aware of their own influence on events and other people. 

 

1
1
3



 34

P7 • listen to and follow religious stories.  

• communicate their ideas about religion, life events and experiences in simple phrases. 

• evaluate their own work and behaviour in simple ways, beginning to identify some actions as right or wrong on the basis of the 
consequences. 

• find out about aspects of religion through stories, music or drama, answer questions and communicate their responses.  

• may communicate their feelings about what is special to them, for example, using role play.  

• begin to understand that other people have needs and to respect these.  

• make purposeful relationships with others in group activity. 

P8  • listen attentively to religious stories or to people talking about religion.  

• begin to understand that religious and other stories carry moral and religious meaning.  

• increasingly able to communicate ideas, feelings or responses to experiences or to retell religious stories.  

• communicate simple facts about religion and important people in religions.  

• begin to realise the significance of religious artefacts, symbols and places.  

• reflect on what makes them happy, sad, excited or lonely.  

• demonstrate a basic understanding of what is right and wrong in familiar situations.  

• are often sensitive to the needs and feelings of others and show respect for themselves and others.  

• treat living things and their environment with care and concern. 

 

                                                                             

Attainment Targets for Religious Education 

1
1
4



 35

_________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____ 

 

RE skills are in bold type. Pupil speak ‘I can’ statements can be found at http://betterre.reonline.org.uk/assessment/cando.php 

 

 
 
 

Attainment Target 1: Learning about Religion and Belief  
 

Attainment Target 2: Learning from Religion and Belief  
 

LEVEL 1  • use some simple religious words and phrases to 
recognise and name features of religious life and practice.  

• recall religious stories and recognise symbols, and other 
verbal and visual forms of religious expression. 
 

• express their own experiences and feelings,  

• express what they find interesting or puzzling  

• express what is of value and concern to themselves and 
to others. 

LEVEL 2 • use simple religious words and phrases to identify some 
features of religion and its importance for some people.  

• begin to show awareness of similarities in religions.  

• retell religious stories  

• identify how religion is expressed in different ways. 
 

• ask, and respond sensitively to, questions about their 
own and others' experiences and feelings.  

• recognise that some questions cause people to wonder 
and are difficult to answer.  

• recognise their own values and those of others 

LEVEL 3 • use a developing religious vocabulary to describe some 
key features of religions, recognising similarities and 
differences. 

• make links between beliefs and sources, including religious 
stories and sacred texts. 

• begin to identify the impact religion has on believers' lives.  

• describe some forms of religious expression. 
 

• identify what influences them, making links between 
aspects of their own and others' experiences.  

• ask important questions about religion and beliefs, 
making links between their own and others' responses.  

• make links between values and commitments, and their 
own attitudes and behaviour. 

LEVEL 4 • use a developing religious vocabulary to describe and 
show understanding of sources, practices, beliefs, ideas, 
feelings and experiences.  

• make links between them, and describe some similarities 
and differences both within and between religions.  

• describe the impact of religion on people's lives.  

• suggest meanings for a range of forms of religious 
expression. 

• raise, and suggest answers to, questions of identity, 
belonging, meaning, purpose, truth, values and 
commitments.  

• apply their ideas to their own and other people's lives.  

• describe what inspires and influences themselves and 
others.  

LEVEL 5 • use a developed religious vocabulary to explain the 
impact of beliefs on individuals and communities.  

• ask, and suggest answers to, questions of identity, 
belonging, meaning, purpose and truth, values and 

1
1
5



 36

• describe why people belong to religions. 

• understand that similarities and differences illustrate 
distinctive beliefs within and between religions and suggest 
possible reasons for this.  

• explain how religious sources are used to provide answers 
to ultimate questions and ethical issues, recognising 
diversity in forms of religious, spiritual and moral expression, 
within and between religions. 

 

commitments, relating them to their own and others' 
lives.  

•  explain what inspires and influences them, expressing 
their own and others' views on the challenges of 
belonging to a religion. 

LEVEL 6 • use an increasingly wide religious and philosophical 
vocabulary to give informed accounts of religions and 
beliefs, explaining the reasons for diversity within and 
between them.  

• explain why the impact of religions and beliefs on 
individuals, communities and societies varies.  

• interpret sources and arguments, explaining the reasons 
that are used in different ways by different traditions to 
provide answers to ultimate questions and ethical issues.  

• interpret the significance of different forms of religious, 
spiritual and moral expression. 

 

• use reasoning and examples to express insights into 
the relationship between beliefs, teachings and world 
issues.  

• express insights into their own and others' views on 
questions of identity and belonging, meaning, purpose 
and truth.  

• consider the challenges of belonging to a religion in 
the contemporary world, focusing on values and 
commitments. 

• evaluate the impact of religious practice on a believers’ 
life and on the life of the community.  

LEVEL 7 • use a wide religious and philosophical vocabulary to 
show a coherent understanding of a range of religions and 
beliefs.  

• analyse issues, values and questions of meaning and truth.  

• account for the influence of history and culture on aspects 
of religious life and practice.  

• explain why the consequences of belonging to a faith are 
not the same for all people within the same religion or 
tradition. 

• use some of the principal methods by which religion, 
spirituality and ethics are studied, including the use of a 
variety of sources, evidence and forms of expression.  

 

• articulate personal and critical responses to questions 
of meaning, purpose and truth and ethical issues.  

• evaluate in depth the significance of religious and other 
views for understanding questions of human relationships, 
belonging, identity, society, values and commitments, 
using appropriate evidence and examples. 

 

 

LEVEL 8 • use a comprehensive religious and philosophical • coherently analyse and reflect on a wide range of 

1
1
6



 37

vocabulary to analyse a range of religions and beliefs.  

• contextualise interpretations of religion with reference to 
historical, cultural, social and philosophical ideas.  

• critically evaluate the impact of religions and beliefs on 
differing communities and societies.  

• analyse differing interpretations of religious, spiritual and 
moral sources, using some of the principal methods by 
which religion, spirituality and ethics are studied.  

• interpret and evaluate varied forms of religious, spiritual 
and moral expression. 

 

viewpoints on questions of identity, belonging, meaning, 
purpose, truth, values and commitments.  

• synthesise a range of evidence, arguments, reflections 
and examples, fully justifying their own views and ideas 
and providing a detailed evaluation of the perspectives of 
others. 

EXCEPTIONAL 
PERFORMANCE 

• use a complex religious, moral and philosophical 
vocabulary to provide a consistent and detailed analysis of 
religions and beliefs.  

• evaluate in depth the importance of religious diversity in a 
pluralistic society. 

• clearly recognise the extent to which the impact of 
religion and beliefs on different communities and societies 
has changed over time.  

• provide a detailed analysis of how religious, spiritual and 
moral sources are interpreted in different ways, evaluating 
the principal methods by which religion and spirituality 
are studied.  

• synthesise effectively their accounts of the varied forms of 
religious, spiritual and moral expression.  

 

• analyse and reflect in depth on a wide range of  
perspectives on questions  of identity and belonging,  
meaning, purpose and truth, and values and  
commitments.  

• independent, well-informed and highly reasoned  
insights into their own and others' perspectives on  
religious and spiritual issues, providing  
well-substantiated and balanced conclusions. 

 

 

         

 

 

 

 

 

 
   

 
 

1
1
7



 38

Religious Education in Early Years Foundation Stage 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) describes the phase of a child’s education from the birth to the end of reception at the age of five. RE is statutory 
for all pupils registered on the school roll but does not extend to nursery classes in maintained schools and is not, therefore, a legal requirement for 
much of the EYFS. It may, however, form a valuable part of the educational experience of children throughout the key stage. 
 
In the EYFS, children may begin to explore the world of religion in terms of special people, books, times, places and objects and by visiting places of 
worship. They listen to and talk about stories. They may be introduced to religious words and use their senses in exploring religions and beliefs, 
practices and forms of expression. They reflect on their own feelings and experiences. They use their imagination and curiosity to develop their 
appreciation and wonder of the world in which they live.  
 
 
The early learning goals set out what most children should achieve by the end of the EYFS.  The six areas of learning identified in these goals are: 
 
■ personal, social and emotional development 
■ communication, language and literacy 
■ problem solving, reasoning and numeracy 
■ knowledge and understanding of the world 
■ physical development 
■ creative development 
 
 
The six strands used as the structure to this Agreed Syllabus can be clearly linked to each of the early learning goals.  
  
 
Religious Education can make an active contribution to all these areas but has a particularly important contribution to make to: 
 
■ personal, social and emotional development 
■ communication, language and literacy 
■ knowledge and understanding of the world 
■ creative development. 
 
 
 

These areas are illustrated below: 
 

1
1
8



 39

 
 

Personal, social and emotional development 
 

 
Children should have the opportunity to develop a sense of their own identity and be encouraged to celebrate the similarities and differences of others.   
Children should use some stories from religious traditions as a stimulus to reflect on their own feelings and experiences and explore them in various ways. 
 

 
Suggested learning experience/activity 
 

 
Suggested questions in the classroom 
 

 
Early Learning Goals 
 

 
Self Confidence and Self Esteem 
Have a developing awareness of their own 
needs , views and feelings and be sensitive to 
the needs, views and feelings of others. 
 
Have a developing respect for their own 
cultures and beliefs and those of other 
people.  
 
Respond to significant experiences, showing 
a range of feelings when appropriate. 
 
 
 
 
 
Behaviour and Self Control 
Understand what is right, what is wrong and 
why. 
 
Consider the consequence of their words and 
actions for themselves and others.   
 
 
 
Sense of Community 
Understand that people have different needs, 
views, cultures and beliefs that need to be 

 
Encourage children to talk about their home and 
community life, and to find out about other 
children’s experiences. 
 
Invite people from a range of cultural backgrounds 
to talk about aspects of their lives or things they do 
in their work. 
 
Plan circle times when children can have 
opportunity to talk about their feelings and support 
them by providing props such as persona 
dolls/puppets. 
 
Share stories about characters or use puppets that 
follow or break rules, and the effects of their 
behaviour on others. 
 
Strengthen the positive impressions children have 
of their own cultures and faiths, and those of others, 
by sharing and celebrating a range of practices and 
special events. For example, a teddy bear could 
have a birthday and a naming ceremony which the 
children could make choices about, taking each 
others’ ideas on board. 
Make a display with the children, showing all the 
people who make up the ‘community’ of the setting. 
 
Provide role-play areas with a variety of resources 

 
What things are special to you? 
 
 
 
What is special about the work you do? 
What special things do different people do? 
 
 
How does this make you feel? 
How do you think he or she feels? 
 
 
 
What do you think about this? 
 
 
 
Can you tell me more……? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
What can you see that is the same about the 
people in the display? 
 

1
1
9



 40

treated with respect.  
 
Understand that they can expect others to 
treat their needs, views, cultures and beliefs 
with respect. 
 
 

reflecting diversity. 
 
Talk about groups children belong to. 
 
Look at clothes/badges to show belonging. 
 
Discuss differences in clothes/language/food as a 
cause for celebration. 
 

What can you see that is similar? 
 
What can you see that is different…? 
 
How do you celebrate?  

 

Communication, language and literacy 
  

 
Children should have opportunities to respond creatively, imaginatively and meaningfully to memorable experiences. 
 

 
Early Learning Goals 
 

 
Suggested learning experience/activity 

 
Suggested possible questions in the classroom 

 
Language for Communication 
 
Interact with others, negotiating plans and 
activities and taking turns in conversation. 
 
Sustain attentive listening, responding to what 
they have heard with relevant comments, 
questions or actions. 
 
Listen with enjoyment, and respond to stories, 
songs and other music, rhymes and poems 
and make up their own stories, songs, rhymes 
and poems. 
 
Extend their vocabulary, exploring the 
meanings and sounds of new words. 
 
 
Language for Thinking 
 
Use language to imagine and recreate roles 

 
Plan opportunities which encourage collaborative 
play and interactions for example: construction, 
cooking activities, story making through role-play. 
Help children to talk about and plan how they will 
begin, what parts each will play and what materials 
they will need. 
 
Through artefacts, stories and music children learn 
about and discuss important religious celebrations. 
Introduce new words and explain their meaning. 
 
Provide for, initiate and join in imaginative play 
using role-play and stories, encouraging children to 
talk about what is happening and to act out the 
scenarios in character. 
Set up displays that remind children of what they 
have experienced, using objects, artefacts, 
photographs and books. 
 
Help children to identify the main events using a 
range of stories and to enact stories, as the basis 

 
 
 
Encourage the language of negotiation by saying, 
‘May I…?’ ‘Will you..?’ ‘I think that…..’ 
 
 
 
 
What did you like about this…..? 
 
 
 
 
 
Which character would you like to be and why? 
 
 
 

1
2
0



 41

and experiences. 
 
Use talk to organise, sequence and clarify 
thinking, ideas, feelings and events. 
 

for further imaginative play. 
 

 
Reading 
 
Show an understanding of the elements of 
stories, such as main character, sequence of 
events and openings, and how information 
can be found in non-fiction texts to answer 
questions about where, who, why and how. 
 
 
 
 
Retell stories or narratives in the correct 
sequence, drawing on the language patterns 
of stories. 
 
 
Writing 
 
Attempt writing for different purposes, using 
features of different forms such as lists, 
stories and instructions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Begin to discuss and model ways of finding out 
information from a range of non-fiction texts. 
 
Using a story from a religious tradition, children 
reflect on the words and actions of characters and 
decide what they would have done in a similar 
situation.  They learn about the story and its 
meanings through activity and play. 
Provide opportunities for children to make marks 

and ‘write’ postcards to relatives, friends and people 

in the community. 

 

 

 
 
Explore a variety of scripts. 

 
What can you tell me about this? 
 
 
 
 
 
What can you tell me about this story? 
 
What would you have done?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
What is the same/different? 
 

 
Knowledge and understanding of the world 

1
2
1



 42

 

 
Children should ask and answer questions about religion and culture, as they occur naturally within their everyday experiences. 
 

 
Early Learning Goals 
 

 
Suggested learning experience/activity 
 

 
Suggested possible questions in the classroom 

 
Exploration and Investigation 
 
Find out about, and identify some features of 
living things, objects and events they observe. 
 
Look closely at similarities, differences, 
patterns and change.  
 
Ask questions about why things happen and 
how things work. 
 
Investigate objects and materials by using all 
of their senses as appropriate. 
 
Communities 
 
Begin to know about their own and other 
cultures and beliefs and those of other people 

 
 
 
Talk about pictures of important family occasions 
and role-play these. 
 
Begin to talk about places of worship and reflect on 
similarities and differences  
 
Having discussed these special places, children 
learn new words associated with the place, showing 
respect.  
 
Children begin to handle artefacts with curiosity and 
respect. 
 
 
Extend children’s knowledge of cultures within and 
beyond the setting, for example; videos , 
photographs, artefacts, inviting visitors from a range 
of religious and ethnic groups, and visiting local 
places of worship. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
What important family occasions do you have in 
your family? 
 
Why do we behave in certain ways in places of 
worship?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
What new things have we found out? 
 
 
 

 

Creative development. 
 

1
2
2



 43

 
Children should have the opportunity to express and communicate, through art, design, music and dance their understanding of their cultures and beliefs 
and those of others. 
 

 
Early Learning Goals 

 
Suggested learning experience/activity 

 
Suggested possible questions in the classroom 

Responding to Experiences, Expressing 
and  Communicating Ideas 
 
Express and communicate their ideas, 
thoughts and feelings by using a wide range 
of materials, suitable tools, imaginative and 
role-play, movement, designing and making, 
and a variety of songs and musical 
instruments.  
 
Respond in a variety of ways to what they 
see, hear, smell, touch and feel.  
 
Creating Music and Dance 
 
Recognise and explore how sounds can be 
changed, sing simple songs from memory, 
recognise repeated sounds and sound 
patterns and match movements to music. 
 
 
 
Developing Imagination and Imaginative 
Play 
Use their imagination in art and design, 
music, dance, imaginative and role-play and 
stories.  

 
 
 
Using religious artefacts as a stimulus, encourage 
children to think about and express meanings.  
 
Children share their own experiences and feelings, 
and are supported in reflecting on them.  Children 
share objects which are special to them.  
 
Begin to record artefacts through drawing. 
 
 
 
 
Learn songs from different festivals. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recap on key stories in the life of Jesus and Moses 
or Abraham. 
 
Use role-play to improvise a story from a festival. 
 

 
 
 
Tell me about this and why is it special? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
How does this music make you feel? 
 
Can you move in a way that shows how you feel?  
 
 
 
 
 
 
What is the story telling us? 

1
2
3



 44

 

Chart showing KS1, KS2, KS3 current content mapped 
against the strands 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

 

Strands KS1  KS2  KS3  
Beliefs, 
teaching 
and 
sources 

Beliefs –  
1. What Christians believe about 

God and Jesus. 
2. What Jews believe about God 

and the Torah. 
 
Teachings 

1. Stories from the New 
Testament that tell about 
Jesus’ life and Jesus as a 
person, a leader and a 
teacher, including stories to 
develop the meaning of 
Christmas and Easter.  

2. Stories from the Torah 
including stories about Moses 
as a person, a leader and a 
teacher.  

Beliefs  
1. What Christians believe about 

God as Trinity. 
2. What Hindus believe about the 

Divine and karma. 
3. What Muslims believe about 

Allah and Muhammad (pbuh). 
 

Teachings  
1. Teachings about God and Jesus/ 

Brahma, Vishnu, Shiva and 
Shakti/Allah and Muhammad 
(pbuh). 

2. Stories and traditions about 
religious leaders 
(Jesus/Muhammad (pbuh) or 
Hindu deities (Rama, Sita, 
Krishna, Ganesh). 

 

Sources 
1. The study and treatment of the 

Bible/ Hindu Sacred texts 
/Qur’an at home and in the place 
of worship.   

2. The Bible/ Hindu Sacred texts 
/Qur’an as revelation of God.  

3. The laws that govern aspects of 
life in the religions being studied.   

4. The structure and teachings in 
the Bible/Qur’an/ Hindu Sacred 
texts. 

NB: diversity of practice within and between religious 
traditions should be studied 
 
Beliefs 

1. At least two reasons for believing/not believing in 
God (one from either side).   

2. At least two significant beliefs from Christianity. 
3. At least two significant beliefs from Buddhism. 
4. At least two significant beliefs from Sikhism.  
5. It would be possible to study at least two significant 

beliefs from another religion.  
6. Secular perspectives on issues such as those related 

to God, the Ultimate, and life after death. 
 
Teachings  

1. The life and teachings of central authority figures e.g. 
Jesus/the Buddha/the Sikh Gurus and other figures 
depending on the further faiths studied.   

 
Sources 

1. The Bible, Buddhist scriptures (e.g. Dhammapada, 
Tripitika, Sutras), and the Guru Granth Sahib and 
other religious texts reflecting the further faiths 
studied.  

 
 

1
2
4



 45

Practice 
and Ways 
of life  
 
 * 

1. Learn about Christmas, Easter, 
Harvest, Shabbat, Pesach, 
Sukkot and Hanukkah 
celebrations. 

2. Rites of passage in Christianity 
and Judaism.  

 

1. Festivals and celebrations in 
Christianity/Hinduism and Islam. 

2. Ceremonies of rites of passage. 
3. Worship, including prayer, at home 

and in the place of worship.  
4. Famous and key religious people 

within Christianity/Hinduism/Islam. 
5. To visit a church and one other 

place of worship. 
6. Explore a variety of places of 

worship, including at least two 
different Christian denominations 
and the role of the leader in these 
places of worship.  

 

NB: diversity of practice within and between religious 
traditions should be studied. 
 
1. Practices and their underpinning beliefs reflected in holy 

times/festivals in Christianity and the other religions 
studied. 

2. Practices and their underpinning beliefs reflected in the 
rites of passage (birth, initiation, marriage and death) in 
the practices of Christianity and the other religions 
studied.   

3. Practices and their underpinning beliefs reflected in 
prayer/meditation and collective and individual 
worship in Christianity and the other religions studied. 

4. Practices and their underpinning beliefs reflected in 
sacred places, places of worship and sites of 
pilgrimage in Christianity and the other religions studied. 

Expressin
g meaning 

1. Symbols associated with 
celebrations, signs and artefacts 
within a church and in a 
synagogue. 

2. The symbols found in a Christian 
home and in a Jewish home.  

1. The symbolism used within 
Christian/Hindu/Muslim worship and 
celebration. 

2. The symbolism used within a 
church/mandir/mosque. 

3. The use of art, music and artefacts 
to explore the significance of 
symbols to express 
Christian/Hindu/Muslim ideas. 

NB: diversity of practice within and between religious 
traditions should be studied.   

1. The role of place and prayer/meditation in a religious 
person’s life. 

2. Interpretations of symbols from Christianity and the other 
religions studied.  

3. The use of creative expression (e.g. poetry, dance, 
drama, comedy, music, sculpture, painting). 

 

Identity, 
diversity 
and 
belonging  
 

1. Special people to us and why 
they are special. 

2. Belonging to a family and groups, 
and the community of 
Christians/Jews. 

3. The importance of families and 
communities, relationships with 
others, the world around them 
and with God.  

4. Symbolism of clothes in 
Christianity and Judaism. 

5. Worship as an expression of 
common beliefs in 
Christianity/Judaism.   

1. What it means to be part of a faith 
community in B&H  

2. The impact faith communities have 
on an area.  

3. The clothes and symbols that 
identify people as 
Christians/Hindus/Muslims. 

4. Teachings about family life and 
care for others in the world faiths 
studied.  

 

NB: diversity of practice within and between religious 
traditions should be studied. 
 
1. At least one interaction between two of the principal 

religions and it impact on contemporary society.  
2. Inter –faith dialogue and reasons for diversity in religion. 
3. Codes for living as an expression of community identity.  
4. Customs, clothing and outward signs of belonging in the 

religions studied.   
5. The relationship between religion and society (e.g. 

secularisation, pluralism, media representations) 
6. The development of community identity through the 

historical development of religion. 

1
2
5



 46

Meaning, 
purpose 
and truth   
 

1. Christian/Jewish beliefs about 
creation. 

2. Christian/Jewish beliefs about 
life and death. 

1. A consideration of an individual’s 
growth and development on the 
journey through life.   

2. The teachings about charitable 
giving and work in the world 
faiths studied. 

3. The impact of religions ethical 
traditions and impact on local 
community.  

NB: diversity of practice within and between religious 
traditions should be studied 
 

1. A consideration of ultimate questions (e.g. matters of 
life and death, the existence of God, problem of evil 
and suffering, the nature of religion, the relationship 
between religion and science).  

2. A consideration of existential questions about an 
individuals place in and relationship to the wider 
world.   

3. At least two significant ethical issues (e.g.  
forgiveness, human rights and responsibilities, peace 
and conflict, wealth and poverty, animal rights and 
the environment)  from the perspectives of 
Christianity and the other religions studied, and an 
analysis of how the issues raised affect believer’s 
lives.   

Values 
and 
commit-
ments. 
 

       1.  Christian/Jewish teaching 
friendship 
2 Children’s own views on friendship 
3 Christian/Jewish ideas about right 
and wrong 
4 Children’s own ideas about right 
and wrong.  

1. Stories about how 
Jesus/Muhammad (pbuh) inspire 
others. 

2. Stories about key people from 
the Bible/Qur’an or about 
Trimurti (Brahma, Shiva and 
Vishnu) and Krishna and how 
they inspire believers today.  

3. Stories about inspirational 
Christians/Hindus/Muslims past 
and present, how and where 
they found their inspiration. 

4. The role and vocation of the 
leaders of local churches/Hindu 
communities and Muslim 
communities. 

 NB: diversity of practice within and between religious 
traditions should be studied 
 

1. At least one significant twentieth/twenty-first century 
person from Christianity and at least one from the 
other religions studied, and an analysis of how beliefs 
inform a believers’ life. 

2. A consideration of an individual’s growth and 
development on the journey through life and how this 
is impacted on by their values and commitments.   

 

 

 

 

1
2
6



 47

Key Stage Four Programme Of Study 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

There is a statutory requirement (Education Reform Act 1988) for all registered pupils to be provided with a course of Religious Education 

in Key Stage 4 (years 10-11). Schools must therefore provide RE to every student in accordance with legal requirements, except for those 

withdrawn by their parents. It is a requirement of this Agreed Syllabus that RE must be taught through accredited qualifications so that 

each school must provide for all students aged 14-16, at least one course in RE or RS leading to a qualification under Section 96 of the 

Learning and Skills Act 2000.   

 

 

Programme of Study at KS4   

Any accredited course leading to an accredited 

public examination that reflects progression 

from KS3. This may be Entry Level Qualification 

or a Short or Full Course GCSE in RS.   

 

 

 

 

Amazing depth and Amazing depth and 

complexity are developed complexity are developed 

here by the overlay and here by the overlay and 

interplay of different interplay of different 

religions.religions.

The learning is profound, The learning is profound, 

and the expression itself and the expression itself 

becomes a demonstration becomes a demonstration 

of empathy.of empathy.

 

1
2
7



 48

 

 

Religious Education 16 - 19 
__________________________________________________________________________________________
 

Programme of Study  

The Religious  Education Provision for students aged 16-19 attending schools and colleges under School 

Regulations is designed to meet the aims of RE through the two attainment targets.  The programme of study 

should build on learning opportunities and experiences gained in KS4.   

Throughout their period of time in the sixth form, students should be provided with the following learning 

opportunities and experiences. 

 

Methods of Delivery  

There are a number of differing ways in which RE can be included in the 16-19 curriculum. Schools will need to 

decide the most appropriate way to deliver the programme of study. However, in implementing the 

requirements for RE in the 16-19 entitlement curriculum, the following principles should be considered: 

a. The method of delivering religious education should make a relevant contribution to the sixth form curriculum. 

b. The arrangements should be such that sixth formers themselves appreciate the positive contribution RE is 

making to their education.  

c. The learning should represent progression from KS4.  

• Investigate and evaluate the influence of religion upon 

a particular society, including the impact of individuals, 

the community and the religion’s history and tradition 

• Investigate the application of moral and religious 

principles to particular issues in human life, at 

personal, national and international levels 

• reflect upon and express views upon the place of 

religious belief and practice in contemporary society 

• Consider and express views on religious and 

secular approached to meaning and purpose in life 

held by notable individuals and various groups 

• Evaluate a contemporary expression of religious 

belief with particular reference to a new religious 

movement in Britain or the wider world 

• Investigate and evaluate how religious and secular 

beliefs affect people’s behaviour in the context of 

personal and social matters. 

It is possible to consider at least six models by which 

RE can be programmed into the sixth form curriculum.   

1. A set period of time each week. This would be 

timetabled and students would follow a taught 

course. 

2. Within an examination course, i.e. Religious 

Studies, Theology, General Studies at AS or A2 

level. 

3. As a module within a general or core course 

such as General studies or Humanities 

4. As a regular termly day or half day conference 

covering a theme within the study programme 

5. As a personal study with supported guidance. 

Students would produce coursework arising 

from a supported self-study 

6.  As a certificated course such as Diploma.   

128



 49

List of Abbreviations and Key Terms 
____________________________________________________________________________________________
__________ 
 

 
A2  The examination normally taken at year 13 as final examination  

AfL  Assessment for Learning  

APP  Assessment for Pupil Progress 

AS  Agreed Syllabus  

AS   The examination level between GCSE and A2   

AT  Attainment Target 

ATL  Attainment Target Level  

AT1/LA Attainment Target 1 (learning about religion and belief) 

AT2/LF Attainment Target 2 (learning from religion and belief) 

DfE  Department of Education 

ECM  Every Child Matters 

EYFS  Early Years Foundation Stage (Reception) 

FS  Functional Skills – English, Mathematics and ICT 

G&T  Gifted and Talented 

ICT  Information and Communication Technology 

KS1  Key Stage 1 (years 1 and 2, children aged 5+) 

KS2  Key Stage 2 (years 3 to 6, children aged 7+) 

KS3  Key Stage 3 (years 7 to 9, children aged 11+) 

KS4  Key Stage 4 (years 10 and 11, children aged 14+) 

KS5  Key Stage 5 (years 12 and 13, children aged 16+) 

LA  Local Authority 

NC  National Curriculum 

P4C  Philosophy for Children  

P Levels  Performance Descriptions  

PoL   Programme of Learning  

129



 50

PLTS   Personal, Learning and Thinking Skills  

 

PRINCIPAL WORLD RELIGIONS  Christianity, Judaism, Islam, Buddhism, Sikhism, Hinduism  

 

 

PSHEe Personal, Social and Health Economic Education  

QCDA  Qualifications and Curriculum Development Authority 

SACRE Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education 

SEAL  Social, emotional aspects of learning 

SEN   Special Educational Needs  

SoW   Scheme of Work  

SRE  Sex and Relationships Education  

SMSC  Spiritual, Moral, Social and Cultural development   

SSA  Special skill and aptitudes  

 

                 

130



 51

Acknowledgements 
____________________________________________________________________________________________
__________ 
 

 

Agreed Syllabus Conference Members  

Rev Derek Bastide (Chair)     Lesley Mason 

Jeremy Taylor      Laura Wells   

Michael Hickman     Alice Tuckett 

Father David Smith 

 

 

Primary Teachers working party members  

Alice Tuckett      Laura Wells 

 

 

Secondary Teachers working party members 

Jeremy Taylor      Samantha Goodyear  

Jeremy Holton 

 

 

Clerk to SACRE present at ASC meetings  

Tess Gill 

 

 

RE Adviser to SACRE and ASC  

Susan Thompson 

131



132



133

Document is Restricted



142



143

Document is Restricted



190


	Agenda
	17 Minutes of the previous meeting
	20 Petitions
	25 Children's Services Fees and Charges 2012-13
	Appdx1  Feed and Charges Learning  Development Centre  2011-12
	Appdx2 Surrenden Pool 2012-13
	Appdx3  Fees and Charges Music Arts Fees  Charges

	26 Services to Young People 2012-2015 - Joint Commissioning Strategy
	Services_To_Young_People_Joint_Commissioning_Strategy_version_10_1_12_1

	27 Brighton & Hove City Council Religious Education Agreed Syllabus 2011
	Final draft RE Syllabus (3)

	28 Procurement of Children's Residential and  Foster Care
	Procurement of  Children's Placements Appendix report final draft 30 12 111


